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DAY 1 – 23 NOVEMBER 2015 

 

  [10.02 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you everyone. Mr van Mierlo, is there a Mihi to 5 

begin proceedings. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, thank you sir.  I will invite Dr Tau to provide a 

Mihi. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Yes, you may stand if you wish.  Thank you. 

 

DR TAU:   (Maori content 0.33).  Judge Hassan, (Maori content 1.25), 

members of the table, simply from Ngai Tahu to you all, greetings and 

it is a pleasure to be here today to participate in this process, which 15 

really is quite important for us.   

 

 That is simply a formality from us and to acknowledge the importance 

of this day, and also to the Crown, lawyers, and Christchurch City 

Council members and participants in this activity today. Greetings to 20 

you all. The important thing for our tribe is our concerns are really for 

the present, they are not historical, and we wish to participate in this 

process with goodwill as the Treaty committed us to. Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, tēnā koe.  E nga iwi, e nga roia, e nga tohunga 25 

whaka-atu: tēnā koutou, tēnā koutou, tēnā koutou katoa.  Ko au, ko 

koe, ko tāua!  Let’s work together!  Ki te awhina-tia o te Atua.  So help 

me God.  Ko Tiati John Hassan tōku ingoa.  Nau mai, haere mai.  

Welcome everyone to this hearing concerning the Papakāinga Zone 

Stage 2 proposal, and with me is Ms Jane Huria, on my immediate 30 

right, Dr Phil Mitchell to her right, and Mr Steven Daysh.  Thank you.  

 

 Now, preliminary matters. Mr Conway, we have had a very brief 

reading of your opening which came in this morning, and I read from 

that that you are seeking an adjournment. There are some questions 35 

around that, but just in terms of process, I wanted to know where the 

joint memorandum had to go that had been signalled through the 

secretariat on Friday that was coming in as between the Council, the 

Crown, and Ngai Tahu. 

 40 

  [10.05 am] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, sir and you are right to ask.  We had anticipated on 

Friday through further discussions that had occurred that a joint 

memorandum would be forthcoming.  That was based on an 45 

understanding that there was a large degree of agreement between the 
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Crown, Council, and Ngai Tahu. Unfortunately, that did not turn out to 

be the position and I apologise that we may have set the Panel up for an 

expectation that we could not follow through.   

 

 As you will have seen through at least the initial part of my legal 5 

submissions for today, there have still been further discussions over the 

weekend and hence the proposal to adjourn after the presentation of 

openings today, and also the mana whenua evidence for Ngai Tahu.  So 

that is a matter I am happy to discuss either now or as I start to proceed 

through a summary of my submissions. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we will just get some clarity around the process. 

So what you are proposing is instead of the draft timetable which we 

had worked to, and obviously the Panel will work with what most 

effectively achieves the right outcomes, you are seeking that instead of 15 

the normal order of the Council’s evidence coming through and then 

other parties’ evidence coming through, that instead of that you would 

like openings from – is it from all parties who are here? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, all parties who wish to present an opening.  We would 20 

be very happy for those to be presented. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How does that relate to, for instance, the submitters down 

the back of the room who have a case to run on their matters?  Is it your 

proposal that those openings be, for those parties making legal 25 

submissions and for the submissions of individual people to come 

through after the adjournment?  Is that the intention? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, I would be very happy to accommodate whichever 

would suit those submitters best.  Now, if they wish to present as part 30 

of this initial set of opening submissions, then that would be absolutely 

fine.  If they would rather wait until a little later then that is fine as 

well.  This is not a proposal that I have had the opportunity to discuss 

with those submitters, so I am conscious that they may be still 

considering which approach they would prefer to take at this point.  35 

 

 So it is possible that that might be something that they wish to consider 

and then report back to the Panel about, perhaps after the morning 

adjournment once we have commenced the process. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How long an adjournment are you wanting? 

 

MR CONWAY:   I would envisage that we would need this afternoon for those 

discussions.  I think it is realistic to suggest that we would need the rest 

of this morning for the presentation of openings and the Ngai Tahu 45 

mana whenua evidence.  And then we would look at using this 
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afternoon, instead of being in the hearing, to have those discussions 

with the aim to present either an agreed position or a clear list of what 

remains to be determined at 10 o’clock tomorrow for the second 

hearing day. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and do you need a room or have you got a room 

sorted for that? 

 

MR CONWAY:   A room has not been sorted at this point, sir.  So if a hearing 

room or a venue is available, we would be grateful. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well we will ask the secretariat to advise on that 

one, thank you.  Now, have you discussed it with Mr van Mierlo and 

the Crown? 

 15 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, I have alerted them to this and I understand Mr van 

Mierlo is neutral about this option and I will allow Mr Randal to 

confirm the Crown’s position. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Randal, I should have probably called for appearances 20 

given that you are back here again. I recall that appearance now, but 

what is the Crown’s position on it? 

 

MR RANDAL:   Thank you, sir.  Sir, it is one of support for the Council’s 

suggestion because as Your Honour may have apprehended from the 25 

written opening for the Crown to the extent that Your Honour has had a 

chance to consider that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Very brief look at it. 

 30 

MR RANDAL:   It is a very brief set of submissions sir, and really it is a 

principle position by the Crown in favour of Papakāinga development 

very generally, and the Crown is in a position where its technical issues 

raised about the proposal have been addressed now.  But its planning 

witness, Mr Willis, has been involved in further discussions with 35 

planners representing the Council and Ngai Tahu, and Nga Runanga 

almost in a facilitative role, and Mr Willis was at the meeting of 

Thursday of last week, the most recent one between the planners. I 

think he came away from that with some optimism, not necessarily that 

all issues could be resolved but that, as between the planners, a pretty 40 

discrete and hopefully short list of issues could be brought back to the 

panel for further consideration and determination.  So I think that 

optimism remains, sir. 

 

  [10.10 am] 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Mr van Mierlo’s correctly put your 

position. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you, sir.  As to adjournment, Ngai Tahu takes a 

neutral position.  We are ready to proceed if that is the Panel’s wish. 5 

We were happy to carry on and engage and continue discussions.  

There have been a lot of discussions over the weekend and late last 

week.  We did not get to the position where an agreed document could 

be signed and filed.   

 10 

 I do have to signal that there is one very significant, from Ngai Tahu’s 

perspective, point which is going to have to be overcome before we can 

get to a point where an agreed document is filed, and that relates to 

how other chapters within the plan are going to be cross-referenced and 

applied to the Papakāinga zone.  I certainly agree with my learned 15 

friend that there is potential to resolve or refine a number of other 

issues, but that seems to be a rather significant point. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I suppose just reflecting on that issue, you no doubt reflect 

on the fact that the Panel has a broader task of making sure cross-20 

referencing and other things occur in a consistent way across the plan 

as a whole.  So perhaps bear that in mind.  We obviously have a larger 

task on our hand in regard to a document that calls for cross-

referencing.  

 25 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I appreciate it is not unique to this chapter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, as long as you do appreciate that, the Panel will take 

its broader view into these matters anyway, hearing submissions, but 

nevertheless taking a broader structural view about the plan as a whole.   30 

 

 All right, so I think I should check with submitters here, I am mindful 

that submitters have also got lives outside this hearing room and have 

come along and made arrangements.  Now on the basis on the present 

timetable, VJ and VS Mitchell, is it Mr and Mrs Mitchell, are the 35 

Mitchells here today?   

 

 Nope, okay, Ms Cook?  Yes.  So you would be very interested in? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, yes, I am a landowner in the area. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you would be interested in being involved in the 

discussion? 
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MS COOK:   Yes, I think that a couple of matters that I am interested in have 

perhaps been a little bit misunderstood by the other parties, and I would 

like the opportunity to work through those a little bit further. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just bearing in mind, it is a bit unusual that the 5 

Council is asking for this procedural relief at this point in the hearing in 

the sense that it is now for the Panel to test the issues on the evidence 

and the representations and submissions made, and there is certainly an 

issue in making sure you understand I think what in fact the other 

parties might or might not agree to and so I want to ask Mr Conway 10 

about that shortly, about what arrangements he has in mind for keeping 

submitters appraised, because at the very least you need to be able to 

keep track of how things evolve. 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, I did not receive this information until about 5 or 6 o’clock 15 

last night. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, yes, no we were in the same boat. 

 

MS COOK:   And also I am committed to mediations tomorrow from about 20 

11.15 am onwards, with some breaks during the day. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes and on the current timetable you were due to come in 

at 10.15, so would your preference be to come in at the beginning of 

tomorrow as it is currently scheduled and for the other parties to - - - 25 

 

MS COOK:   I do not need to be first thing, I have to travel back from the 

Peninsula in the morning so I do not want too early a start. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well at the moment you are schedule for 10.15?  How 30 

does that sound? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, that is satisfactory, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 35 

 

MS COOK:   Or I had intended to attend today anyway. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, so would in fact your preference be to have 

your case presented today? 40 

 

MS COOK:   If it can be wrapped up today, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, all right. 

 45 

MS COOK:   Either suits me, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  How about this, how would it suit you if you 

were able to present your case today but then on arrangements whereby 

the Council keeps submitters appraised of whatever they arrive at by 

way of discussions this afternoon, you have the opportunity to put 5 

something in writing to us tomorrow, given that you cannot be here? 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

MS COOK:   Are you saying rather than attending the discussions this 10 

afternoon if that is what is going to happen? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well the point is that when the parties ask for time they 

are asking for effectively an adjournment.  They are not asking for my 

directions on who attends a discussion. 15 

 

MS COOK:   Okay, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I am not sure if I have the ability to direct that, but 

certainly I can ask the parties what their views are on that and we can 20 

take it from there.  Is there anything else, Ms Cook?  At the moment I 

have just got a note that we may well have you heard reasonably soon 

today, to have that done and we will see what comes of your request. 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, thank you, your Honour. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Are there any other submitters here 

who wish to put in an appearance or have a difficulty with the proposal 

for an adjournment by which effectively the hearing would go into 

recess after Te Runanga’s evidence is called through and after the 30 

opening submissions of the three parties who are calling legal 

submissions.  Are there any other submitters here who have an issue or 

difficulty?  If you could just state your name for the record, thank you. 

 

MS SMITH:   Paula Smith for Lyttelton-Mt Herbert Community Board. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SMITH:   We were scheduled to speak at 10.00 am tomorrow, I think, and 

I would be okay about doing it later today or at some later date. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right well thank you very much, Ms Smith, that is 

very helpful.  All right. 

 

 We are just having a discussion at the moment about the most 45 

practicable and efficient way of dealing with opening submissions.  
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Hearing what you have got to say Mr Conway, but on the other hand 

thinking that if there is to be a genuine discussion and it does result in 

some changes in position, what you say in opening could be 

significantly different after what is agreed, if it is agreed. 

 5 

 We are wondering whether in fact the better approach might be, we 

could certainly have some opening from you but to reserve the other 

openings until tomorrow and just have the evidence called through.  

Mr van Mierlo, you are probably the most affected by that - - - 

 10 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and open to you, obviously we have had a brief 

chance to look at your submissions and if your preference is that we get 

the gist of concerns before your evidence is called then we will run 15 

with that. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   That is the preference from Ngai Tahu, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   There are a number of mana whenua who are here. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 25 

MR VAN MIERLO:   And also in terms of three mana whenua witnesses who 

are intending to present their evidence or their summaries at least - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 30 

MR VAN MIERLO:   - - - they would like to hear submissions in opening. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, yes, okay. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   If there is an opportunity to accommodate that, that 35 

would be appreciated. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right that is fine.  Now Mr Conway, what is the Council’s 

plan for keeping submitters such as Ms Cook and Ms Paula Smith of 

the Lyttelton-Mt Herbert Community Board, appraised of how matters 40 

progress? 

 

MR CONWAY:  Sir, I suppose the ideal position is as many of those 

submitters as are able to attend the discussion today would do so and 

they would be able to hear the way matters progress. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right well that is most helpful, so in other words the 

door is open for attendance and we do not need to make a direction on 

that.  I take it that is the position of the other parties to the discussion? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Certainly.   5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well I think that covers that then.  So just in 

terms of those matters, we will make direction now that – I will make a 

couple of directions now.  One, that after the openings of the Council 

and Te Runanga, Mr van Mierlo, and the calling of the Te Runanga 10 

evidence today, we will hear from those submitter parties that wish to 

make their presentations today and then we will adjourn until 10.00 am 

tomorrow morning.  Now I think that is all I need to direct there.   

 

 The Panel wishes to have a report from those discussions as soon as 15 

possible before we start tomorrow.  The Council is to keep in close 

touch with the Secretariat on timing.  The Panel’s preference is for 

overnight reading.  If that is not possible, the Panel’s strong preference 

is for communication by 9.00 am tomorrow morning on timing, and the 

hearing time may be adjusted to enable the Panel reading time from 20 

whatever comes back from those discussions. 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you, sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now there was one or two other matters that I 

wanted to just test and I do not see Mr and Mrs Mitchell here today.  

There is the evidence of Ms Heppelthwaite.  Do the parties still wish to 

cross-examine that evidence, that is Mr Conway and Mr van Mierlo? 30 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay.  Well thank you for that. 

 35 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The position at the moment is I do not quite know what 

Ms Heppelthwaite’s arrangements are intended to be.  A minute issued, 

you would have seen late last week on the basis of the Secretariat being 40 

advised that Ms Heppelthwaite could not make the hearing and I 

informed her of the position on that.   

 

 So I am not sure if anyone is able to be in touch with Mr and Mrs 

Mitchell, but it is one of those matters of procedure that if evidence is 45 

to be called, unless it comes in by consent, and in this case it does not, 
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it comes in with a request to cross-examine from two parties, that 

evidence is unsworn until such time as it is sworn, therefore the witness 

needs to attend for it to be sworn in, and it that does not occur, I will 

reserve the position given that the discretion subject to the applications 

any parties make to receive informal evidence.  But Mr and Mrs 5 

Mitchell needs to understand that evidence that is unsworn, with the 

witness not attending for cross-examination, is unlikely to be given 

much, if any, weight. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Sir, I think I should foreshadow there also, that if Ms 10 

Heppelthwaite is not available for questioning, I will be seeking their 

evidence be struck out.  I just foreshadow that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well that is a matter for you to make an 

application if you wish.  I reserve the position on it but I do not give 15 

you a view on it at this stage. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Understood, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well I do not think there is anything else.  One 20 

other matter I wanted to just mention to you Mr Conway, was I think I 

signalled through the Secretariat that in regard to the two infrastructure 

witnesses - - -  

 

MR CONWAY:   Mr Norton and Ms O’Brien? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that the Panel does have some questions but is happy 

to put them in writing, so you will receive those questions in due course 

and we would like answers from those witnesses.  It can come through 

counsel as reply or by supplementary statement in terms of the 30 

questions that we have. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Dr Mitchell will put those matters to you when 35 

it suits him.  All right, so we will now hear from you on your opening 

and then I think we will then go straight to you, Mr van Mierlo, for 

yours, and you can call your witnesses. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, sir. 40 

 

MR CONWAY:   Tena koutou, may it please the Panel, I have prepared and 

now filed some written submissions.  I do not propose to take you 

through those in full, particularly in light of the adjournment that has 

now been confirmed.  What I do propose to do is take you through the 45 

introduction and summary, and then just briefly touch on part 4 of 
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those submissions which explains the simplified version of chapter 4 

that is attached to these legal submissions.  

 

 In 1.1, I note there that it was agreed at mediation to rename the 

proposal Papakāinga /Kainga Nohoanga, however for ease of reference, 5 

I will be referring to it as Papakāinga throughout these submissions. 

 

 It is outlined by Mr Matheson in his evidence-in-chief the purpose of 

the zone is to provide for a wide range of permitted activities with 

minimal development and subdivision standards thereby supporting 10 

mana whenua with its economic, social, and cultural development over 

some of the Māori reserve land originally allocated to Ngai Tahu as 

part of the contracts for sale and purchase entered into in the 1800s.   

 

 It is pleasing to see that in general, submitters have supported the intent 15 

of this proposal with most submission points relating to adjustments of 

the extent of the zone or the controls on land use within the zone. 

 

 I will pause here to briefly outline the way the zone has progressed. 

The chapter as notified started out simple and focused on Papakāinga 20 

activities only, within a zone.   

 

  [10.25 am] 

 

 In response to submissions, a distinction was then created by Mr 25 

Matheson between Māori land, which would be covered by a reduced 

area of Papakāinga Zone proper on the one hand, and general land 

which was to be denoted by the Papakāinga overlay.  So in other 

words, the area that had originally been notified as the Papakāinga 

Zone would now be called the overlay because it covered land that was 30 

not Māori land as managed under Te Ture Whenua Māori Act. 

 

 The intent of the overlay, however, was to identify that wider ancestral 

Ngai Tahu land is currently in general ownership, so that it still had the 

benefit of some of the enabling provisions, and that if the ownership of 35 

the land changed or the status of the land changed to Māori land in the 

future, that land would gain the benefit of the more permissive 

Papakāinga provisions. 

 

 Returning to 1.4, formal mediation on 29 October resulted in 40 

refinement of the zone provisions and agreement to create a specific 

surface zone for Nga Hau E Wha National Marae rather than having the 

site fall within the Papakāinga zone.  Further discussions between the 

Crown, Ngai Tahu, and the Council over the past week, as have been 

referred to, resulted in further simplification and clarification of chapter 45 

4.  I am interpolating there to return to my description before.  The later 
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set of provisions which I have attached to these legal submissions go 

back to the single zone approach, in other words, that wider overlay 

area now gets called the zone again.  So it is a return to the initial 

position that covers that wider area and the rules that apply to particular 

pieces of land within that area depend on the status of the land, with 5 

respect to Te Ture Whenua Māori Act. 

 

 In particular, if land is Māori communal land, Māori customary land, or 

Māori freehold land, it gains the benefit of the more permissive 

provisions in the Papakāinga chapter.  On the other hand, if the land is 10 

general land, including general land that just happens to be owned by 

Māori, it is essentially treated as per the standard rural zone provisions 

that would otherwise apply.  

 

 Now, we have essentially covered up to 1.5, but I just want to signal 15 

here again that in terms of the latest changes that the Council has 

received from Ngai Tahu, the Council anticipates that it will be able to 

accept some of those changes, and those are not changes that the Panel 

has in front of it.  But I just want to acknowledge there that it is in light 

of the Council’s willingness to consider those changes that this request 20 

for an adjournment has been made. 

 

 As I note in the last sentence of 1.5, there are also some requested 

structural changes in relation to rules and standards, particular one of 

which has already been mentioned by Mr van Mierlo today, and the 25 

Council again considers it will be most efficient to work through those 

with the parties rather than endeavour to deal with them through cross-

examination.  

 

  I have covered 1.6, and in 1.7 I have already mentioned Attachment A, 30 

and for the benefit of the submitters in particular, in preparation for that 

discussion this afternoon, it will be the provisions in Attachment A that 

the Council wishes to use as the starting point for those discussions, 

subject to the additional amendment as will be discussed this afternoon. 

 35 

  [10.30 am] 

 

 I further note in 1.7 that no further changes have been made to the 

specific purpose zone for Nga Hau E Wha National Marae since the 

version produced in Mr Matheson's rebuttal evidence, so that version 40 

remains the Council's position in relation to that land. 

 

 Part 3 of my legal submissions I note the higher order documents, and 

the only one I really want to touch on there is policy 5.3.4 of the 

Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, all of these provisions broadly 45 

support the intent of having a Papakāinga Zone in my submission, but 
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this particular policy of the Regional Policy Statement is a key 

provision explaining the aim, and also the reason why other provisions 

in other chapters still need to apply to this land, including things like 

natural hazards and landscape, and other matters. 

 5 

 Turning now to part 4, I refer in 4.1 to attachment A again.  

Mr Matheson is here and available to speak to these changes if the 

Panel would appreciate hearing on that, and that would be obviously a 

slight change from the process that has been discussed.  But I wish to 

make that offer in case it would assist either the Panel or submitters. 10 

 

 Now, if that is not taken up Mr Matheson will of course be present in 

the discussions this afternoon and will be able to make those comments 

in explanation to submitters, and then it is envisaged that he would be 

able to present his explanation of what the outcome is from today when 15 

we come back tomorrow, if that would assist the Panel. 

 

 At 4.2 the Council considers that these changes to the proposal do not 

change the fundamental nature or aim of the proposal as notified, rather 

they alter the mechanics of how the zone works.  They simplify the 20 

process in the Council’s view and provide clarity to land owners within 

the zone of what can happen on what type of land. 

 

 And below I briefly touch on the nature of the changes.  In 4.4 I note 

the use of the zone in Overlay approach, though obviously intended to 25 

provide some clarity was found to actually be a bit unclear for 

submitters, and so the Council has reverted back to the earlier 

approach.  

 

 4.5, the simplified proposal tailors the provisions to reflect the different 30 

land tenure in Te Ture Whenua Māori Act, rather than mapping the 

three different categories of tenure as had been proposed.  So those are 

the different types of Māori land as opposed to general land. 

 

 I have already touched on A and B.  And in fact the remainder of these 35 

provisions I think are really captured by the broad summary I have 

provided, and in particular the clarification that rural zone provisions 

apply to the general land within that zone.   

 

 In 4.8 I note that there is also some adjustment to the way the built-40 

form standards apply.   

 

 Sir, just wrapping up on this, the essential point is the Council is 

aiming to provide as much clarity as possible in these provisions, and it 

recognises that, in particularly in light of the matters that Ngai Tahu 45 
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has signalled, there is some further work that can be done, and the 

Council is very keen to do that further work. 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 5 

 Particularly to work with the other submitters to provide the most 

appropriate provisions.   

 

 And before I finish, I just want to acknowledge, as I probably should 

have done at the start, the Council thanks the Crown and Ngai Tahu 10 

and other submitters for their willingness to engage in the discussions 

to date in this process, and thanks those parties for their input.  It has 

been very helpful, and as you will see the provisions have moved 

around quite a bit. I appreciate that has the potential to cause confusion, 

but the end goal of that is to have provisions that serve their purpose 15 

and are as clear as possible.  

 

 I have listed some outstanding issues, that is between submitters other 

than Ngai Tahu, because I appreciate Ngai Tahu’s position is really set 

out in it’s opening legal submissions, and I do not propose to take the 20 

Panel through those just yet, particularly because I am hopeful that 

some of those matters might be able to be resolved through the 

discussions this afternoon. 

 

 Unless the Panel has any questions I propose to stop there. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is a question from Ms Huria. 

 

MS HURIA:   Good morning.  I am just interested to know the discussions this 

afternoon or the question of the boundaries and what land should go in 30 

the zone, will that be part of the discussions? 

 

MR CONWAY:   I would have to get Mr Matheson to confirm.  My 

understanding was that the boundaries had been largely confirmed, 

subject to any submitters having a different view in terms of what has 35 

been put forward. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay. 

 

MR CONWAY:   As far as I am aware that is largely agreed, but if any 40 

submitters do have a concern about boundaries then that will obviously 

be a matter that we can discuss this afternoon. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir.   

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 
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MR DAYSH:   Thank you, Mr Conway.  This best sort of purpose zone for 

Nga Hau E Wha National Marae, are there any issues from your 

perspective about creating that new zone, carving that out and putting 

that in the plan without it being notified as such?  It is really a general 5 

scope issues. 

   

MR CONWAY:   The provisions in that zone are essentially mirroring what 

has been arranged and what was originally notified for the Papakāinga 

Zone that would have applied to that land, subject to the updates 10 

needed to make it work, and in line with what has been arranged. 

 

 So aside from the fact that it has now been shifted into a different 

chapter, the intent is that essentially you are mirroring that approach, it 

is just that it was a recognition that this land is actually – it is not really 15 

of the nature of Papakāinga , it was better to deal with that as its own 

specific purpose zone. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well I do not have any questions at this stage.  If 

I do have any it will be by way of observation at the end of the 

evidence being called and before you go into conferencing, but not at 

this stage.  So in that case, Mr Matheson will come through tomorrow 

in the normal course of events.  Thank you very much for that 25 

introduction Mr Conway. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr van Mierlo. 30 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Tena koutou.  May it please the Panel.  First thing, may I 

confirm you have printed copies of our submissions?   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we have got a document, and to be perfectly frank in 35 

the flurry of this morning, I managed to read Mr Conway’s in more 

detail than yours.   

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I was going to say, sir, I do not anticipate the Panel will 

have had an opportunity to read submissions.  There is a bit there and 40 

of course they were only filed on Sunday afternoon, and I apologise for 

that. That arose as a consequence of the ongoing work that was 

occurring over the weekend and we were obviously seeing how far we 

could go in terms of resolving issues. 

 45 
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 Ngai Tahu are seeking the submissions be presented to the Panel, and I 

am grateful for the Panel’s opportunity to do that this morning, sir.   

 

 The Papakāinga Proposal is of particular significance to Te Runanga O 

Ngai Tahu and the six Papatipu Rūnanga whose takiwa encompasses 5 

the greater Christchurch district.  The final form of the proposal will be 

fundamental to the ability of Nga Runanga to use, develop and protect 

the land within the original Māori reserves set aside for Ngai Tahu by 

agreement with the Crown in the 1800s. 

 10 

 As the Papakāinga Proposal is fundamentally about the use, 

development and protection of land, the issues raised in this hearing 

relate directly to the purpose of the Act, they also raise important 

questions as to how the Proposed Replacement District Plan should 

recognise and provide for Ngai Tahu’s relationship with their ancestral 15 

lands.  How particular regard should be had to Ngai Tahu’s exercise of 

kaitiakitanga over those lands, and how the principles of the Treaty of 

Waitangi should be taken into account in relation to these matters. 

 

  [10.40 am] 20 

 

 It is a matter of record that through the Crowns purchases in the 1840s 

and 1850s Ngai Tahu were dispossessed of virtually all their lands 

within that takiwa, including within what is now known as the greater 

Christchurch district. Modern legal texts recall that in these transactions 25 

the Crown agents acted with deception or duplicity.  In an aggressive 

campaign of Crown purchasing Ngai Tahu asked for some 200,000 

acres in reserves and they got just over 6,000 acres. 

 

 The Waitangi Tribunal was most critical not of the Crown policy of 30 

purchasing from Māori but of the failure to provide adequate reserves 

from the vast areas purchased.  The land subject to the Papakāinga 

proposal forms a part of the 6,000 acres set aside by the Crown in the 

course of the land purchases.  Reserve land which remains in Maori 

ownership is of immense cultural and historical significance to Ngai 35 

Tahu whānui representing as it does the remainder of all that was 

owned previously. 

 

 Because Mr Cunningham explains in his evidence - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just pause there, Mr van Mierlo – so the normal course for 

counsel is to just present briefly an opener. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, sir. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  And undoubtedly the Panel is going to read these 

submissions very carefully - - -  

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - as it will on all matters, so I would urge you to take 

that on board and perhaps, if you can, highlight the main points - - -  

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - bearing in mind the normal allocation of time for 

opening is quite brief.  You normally have a more generous opportunity 

in closing.  So if you could take that lead. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Certainly, sir.  I think leave was sought for 25 minutes 15 

which was granted. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is right, I understand that.  I had actually 

overlooked that.  You are quite right, it was 25 minutes and you have 

got that time but just bear in mind. 20 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I will endeavour to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, you can proceed now. 

 25 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Paragraph 5. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes.  So the Crown has apologised for its past actions 30 

and Ngai Tahu’s land claims arising out the historic Treaty claims have 

been settled, and there is now a new age of co-operation between the 

Crown and Ngai Tahu.  But the point that is made in paragraph 5 is the 

Treaty obligations do continue.  They are not merely historic but they 

extend into the future as well.   35 

 

 Ngai Tahu has taken a forward looking approach to the Papakāinga 

proposal.  The outcome that Ngai Tahu expressly wishes to avoid at the 

end of paragraph 5 there is a set of land provisions that on the surface 

look to be enabling, but in the detail continue to frustrate the 40 

development of Papakāinga with requirements for multiple consents 

and/or publicly notified processes.  In my submission that is at one with 

the Minister’s expectations set out in the relevant Order in Council. 

 

 Now a number of versions of the proposal have been filed since 45 

notification.  Again Ngai Tahu does appreciate the efforts of Council 
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and Crown planners in seeking to resolve issues and the ongoing 

discussion that has occurred, however to some extent those further 

variations or versions have caused some frustration as these issues have 

been worked through. 

 5 

 I do not need to go through paragraph 9, that is referring to the version 

which was filed on Friday, which will be subject to further discussions 

today with you, however for the purposes of these submissions, Ngai 

Tahu’s preference remains that set out is the attachment to the 

evidence-in-chief, Ms Murchison. 10 

 

 At paragraph 11 I set out the points which are understood to be agreed 

between Council, the Crown and Ngai Tahu and I will go through 

these.  Firstly that the name of the chapter is Papakāinga Kainga 

Nohoanga chapter and zone, that within this zone all land may be used 15 

for activities which are consistent with the provisions for the Rural 

zone.  As such, the chapter needs an objective and policy to this effect, 

provided the Hearings Panel agrees there is scope to do this. 

 

 In addition, land which is held as Maori customary title or Maori 20 

freehold title under Te Ture Whenua Māori Act, or declared a Maori 

reservation for communal purposes by the Māori Land Court under 

section 338 of that Act, has additional development provisions to 

recognise and enable the use of that land for Papakāinga .  These 

provisions include a list of permitted activities subject to conditions.  25 

Activities which do not comply with those conditions are to be 

restricted discretionary activities.   

 

  [10.45 am] 

 30 

 And the conditions are largely designed to enable development within 

these areas to be in accordance with Tikanga Māori and to ensure that 

any direct effects of buildings or activities on adjoining landowners are 

able to be addressed.  Permitted activities are also required to comply 

with conditions in other chapters relating to natural hazards, 35 

contaminated land, access way, noise, glare and earthworks.  And 

where the activities are also required to comply with rules in chapters 9 

and 19, to protect natural heritage, cultural, landscape and coastal 

values is a matter which will be determined in the context of that 

further chapter. 40 

 

 Now there is a specific policy that has been identified in 

Ms Murchison’s evidence-in-chief and I understand this is agreed with 

Council and the Crown, which would enable the rezoning of other land 

outside the five reserves to be Papakāinga where appropriate, 45 

recognising that that land is in many instances ancestral land. 
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 At paragraph 13 I note the substantive point of disagreement is relating 

to how the proposal should take into account matters such as natural 

hazards, infrastructure and servicing, transport effects.  It is understood 

Council favours a broad reference to the activity status tables and 5 

standards which are to apply where relevant.  Ngai Tahu seeks 

specificity as to what the rules and standards are to be applied to 

Papakāinga development.  This is particularly important from Ngai 

Tahu’s perspective, as without specificity there is potential for 

Papakāinga development to be a permitted activity within the zone, but 10 

nevertheless subject to a raft of resource consent requirements, and I 

would say even prohibited activity status under other chapters.   

 

 And this is precisely the outcome that Ngai Tahu is seeking to avoid – 

the appearance of enabling provisions but the reality of complex and 15 

frustrating consent requirements.  That the chapters referenced remain 

subject to decisions that have not been finalised only compounds the 

uncertainty in this respect. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But you refer to Natural Hazards, infrastructure, servicing 20 

and transport.  Do you treat them all in the same vein or are there some 

which you would see and acknowledge if being of necessity a 

constraint or a prohibition on development as appropriate, for instance 

Natural Hazards? 

 25 

MR VAN MIERLO:   It is certainly acknowledged sir, and it is not Ngai 

Tahu’s position that these chapters should not apply, but we were 

wanting to know what the implications of these references are so that 

some assessment can be made and some consideration had as to are 

these really relevant and how are they relevant, and what are the 30 

implications of that for Papakāinga development? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Paragraph 14 I think. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I have just simply noted there a key issue is does the 35 

proposal appropriately enable Papakāinga development in the district?  

And really in my submission this is the nub of the issue in this hearing.  

And the appropriateness needs to be assessed in accordance with the 

higher planning documents, the Minister’s expectations, Strategic 

Directions, et cetera.   40 

 

 And appropriateness needs to be assessed in terms of substance and 

practise, not merely form.   

 

 An issue which has been raised by a number of submitters is ongoing 45 

community or wider community involvement in how Papakāinga is to 
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be developed on Māori land and particularly there is a desire by some 

submitters to have input into future Papakāinga development to ensure 

that development is in keeping with the existing character of the 

neighbourhood.   

 5 

 Now in my submission considerable care is required here.  History has 

shown that the application of wider plan provisions to Māori reserve 

lands can actively frustrate and prevent the use of those lands for the 

purpose that they were set aside and reserved.  It would be wrong, in 

my submission, to require Papakāinga to fit in with others’ ideals or 10 

ideas of what constitutes appropriate development.  Fundamental to the 

notion of Papakāinga is that it is able to be developed in accordance 

with tikanga Maori.  Papakāinga embodies the recognition and 

acknowledgement of Ngai Tahu occupation and settlement of these 

areas predates other subsequent settlement or land use patterns.  And in 15 

my submission the Replacement Plan must enable such occupation to 

continue and grow. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 20 

 At paragraph 17, the Replacement Plan is a unique opportunity.  It is an 

opportunity to address constraints that for 150 years have effectively 

frustrated or even prevented the utilisation of Ngai Tahu reserves 

within the Christchurch district, and have in effect encouraged their 

alienation.   25 

 

 I will not go through paragraphs 18 and 19.  At 19 I set out in summary 

the evidence to be called on behalf of Ngai Tahu, so my understanding 

is and what we will proceed to do is we will hear from Dr Tau, 

Mr Cunningham and Ms Kipa after opening submissions. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, and are the other witnesses reserved until 

tomorrow? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is all right. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you.  I turn now to outstanding issues, and at 

paragraph 22 I summarise what I understand to be unresolved between 40 

Ngāi Tahu and Council – I will just run through that relatively quickly 

because obviously that is going to be the subject of further discussion 

later today. 

 

 There is a scale of activities to be provided for as permitted activities 45 

for Papakāinga/Kāinga Nohoanga. We have talked about cross-
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referencing of other rules and in particular it is not a desire that other 

rules will not apply but a need for clarification and certainty to 

understand that how they will apply and ensure that that is going to 

operate in an enabling way and not in a way that will in fact frustrate 

the development of Papakāinga. 5 

 

 Related or allied to that there is a question of how activities which are 

not permitted activities are to be provided for in the plan and in 

particular Mrs Murchison favours an approach which can utilise an 

Outline Development Plan effectively to bundle any necessary consents 10 

into a single application and a single process. 

 

 There are some issues remaining with regards to the matters to be 

considered for restricted discretionary activities, in particular the extent 

that matters relating to amenity values or surrounding character of 15 

neighbouring areas should be taken into account in those 

considerations.  Ngāi Tahu’s view is that, direct effects on immediately 

adjoining neighbours are of relevance, so matters such as recession 

plains should be provided for and are provided for, but going beyond 

that and providing for assessment relating to general amenity values, 20 

and in particular providing for notification to enable such assessment is 

taking that a step too far. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I just quickly go back to your activities that are not 

permitted - - -  25 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - activities at paragraph 28 and the Outline 

Development Plan idea, I am not sure if there is an issue with this or 30 

not but it would be important to bear in mind there has been a little bit 

of case law around activity categorisation, the Queenstown case as you 

are probably familiar with, in terms of the use of Outline Development 

Plans in a resource consent construct. 

 35 

 So I just flag it to you – I am not saying that it is necessarily an issue, 

but it would be worth bearing in mind the case law around that from 

Queenstown. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes.  I think in that case, sir, the issue there was, Outline 40 

Development Plans providing for activities as permitted activities. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
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MR VAN MIERLO:   And here what is being proposed is that, in assessing or 

bundling up potentially discretionary or even non-complying, which we 

do not know exactly what the status would be, but - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does seem to consider it – yes, okay. So it is a 5 

mechanism, it is not a replacement for an activity classification? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   That is right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Next will be 29, a wee bit further on. 10 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes.  At 32 with respect to rural activities, Ngāi Tahu’s 

in agreement that objective and policy related to general use of land for 

rural activities should be included. 

 15 

 There is an issue with regard to potential reference of the Mahaanui Iwi 

Management Plan, and I have flag there some issues relating to the 

standards for development on property boundaries – I think I have 

already referred to that, sir, particularly in relation to matters such as 

recession planes – as I have indicated, effects on directly adjoining 20 

neighbours and landowners, direct effects are appropriate in Ngāi 

Tahu’s submission, but to go beyond that and provide for much wider 

amenity related assessment is not considered appropriate. 

 

  [10.55 am] 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And is that submission on the basis of your earlier 

reservation that stage 3 would be the time when cultural and natural 

landscape matters would be addressed? 

 30 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Well certainly in respect of outstanding landscapes et 

cetera, that is where that will be addressed, yes, and beyond that it is on 

the basis that, yes direct effects have been addressed through the 

recession planes, height restrictions, et cetera and they can be specified 

in the Papakāinga zone rather than relying on a notification process 35 

with the wider community. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I then move onto matters which are understood to be 40 

raised by other submitters, again I will seek to move through this 

relatively quickly, and there are some issues with regard to the 

relevance of Te Turi Whenua Māori Act, that is perhaps a matter of 

detail which can be – we will see how we go with discussions with 

people this afternoon, but I am anticipating that that can be resolved. 45 
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 I further discuss the overlay or zone approach and it is noted that 

Council has, as of Friday, confirm that it is supportive or moving away 

from the overlay approach and reverting back to the originally notified 

concept of a Papakāinga zone which covers the full extent as notified, 

so that is a significant change in recent times. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So is that in a principle, more in line with what you are 

seeking? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Absolutely, sir, that is what Ngāi Tahu was seeking. 10 

 

 A number of submitters have supported the overlay approach, as I say, 

Council’s indications are now that it does not wish to proceed with that 

and Ngāi Tahu supports the use of a zone rather than an overlay 

approach. 15 

 

 I have referred to minimum standards already, I just – I have noted in 

this section because it is understood that a number of submitters have 

raised these issues.  I do not think I need to repeat that again, the point 

is as I have noted, Ngāi Tahu has a real concern with regards to wider 20 

consideration of neighbourhood amenity in relation to permitted 

activities particularly, or matters which trigger the need for a consent, 

but are in effect Papakāinga developments within the zone. 

 

 Allied to this is question of public notification, some submitters are 25 

seeking the ability or provision for wider public notification of 

restricted discretionary activity consents.  The proposal provides for 

limited notification for directly adjoining neighbours where matters 

such as recession planes are exceeded, that is considered appropriate. 

 30 

 I have noted there the issue at paragraph 59 regarding outstanding 

landscapes, coastal environment, heritage and cultural values.  Again in 

my submission that will be dealt with through further process – I do 

foreshadow that Ngāi Tahu has submitted and will be adopting the 

position that an exemption for Papakāinga is appropriate within that 35 

chapter. 

 

 With respect to Wairewa – Little River – there are a number of specific 

submissions that have arisen.  I will leave paragraph 61 for now, we 

will just remain and see whether Ms Heppelthwaite is available. 40 

 

 I do note that the Little River Issues Working Party’s position was one 

of support for development of land in mana whenua ownership within 

the area of the original Māori reserve, and at a broad level that is 

consistent with the objective, that has been largely agreed now and is 45 

consistent with the proposal which Ngāi Tahu is proposing. 
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 There is reference in some of the submissions to a working party at 

Wairewa – that is paragraph 65 – in my submission that is an 

appropriate type of forum for consultation, it is not necessary to rework 

the boundaries of the zone so as to provide or enable an opportunity for 5 

consultation with the community regarding how Papakāinga is develop 

within the zone. 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 10 

 In my submission that would fail to recognise the direction provided in 

the higher order planning documents, and it would also run counter to 

the Minister’s expectations, Strategic Directions, which require 

significant reduction in resource consent processes prescriptive of this 

notification procedures, et cetera. 15 

 

 I touch on a couple of further issues which are raised through the 

evidence, at paragraph 68 some of the witnesses called by Ngāi Tahu 

express the aspiration of Ngāi Tahu whānui, with a recognition of a 

right of self-determination in the Māori reserves. 20 

 

   

 

 In essence, what is expressed is the desire for recognition of the right of 

Ngāi Tahu to regulate its own people, its own activities and its own 25 

resources on Māori reserves, and such an aspiration in my submission 

is not surprising.  It is an expression of the desire by Ngai Tahu whanui 

to exercise tino rangatiratanga as guaranteed under the Treaty of 

Waitangi, and it is a desire to finally and fully give effect to the 

promises made by the Crown when allocating reserves under Kent’s 30 

purchase and the subsequent Canterbury purchases. 

 

 It is consistent with the Treaty principle of the tribal right of self-

regulation which has been recognised by the Waitangi Tribunal.  But it 

is also acknowledged that such an outcome is beyond that which can be 35 

achieved through the Replacement District Plan process while there are 

mechanisms under the RMA that could facilitate Ngai Tahu regulation 

of resource management matters on reserves. 

 

 It is accepted that requiring their implementation is outside the scope of 40 

this hearing.  It has not been sought here.  What has been sought is an 

enabling set of plan provisions for Papakāinga within the district so that 

whānau can return home.   

 

 I refer to consultation at paragraph 71, and Te Runanga wishes to place 45 

on the record its dissatisfaction with the Council process of 
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consultation with the iwi authority in the preparation of this chapter.  

The proposal is of obvious and particular importance to Ngai Tahu and 

there was an expectation that Ngai Tahu would be closely involved in 

key aspects of the proposal’s development. 

 5 

 In particular, Ngai Tahu are particularly concerned that the notified 

Chapter 4 Papakāinga Zone Proposal and planning maps were not 

provided to Te Runanga or Nga Runanga for the opportunity to 

comment prior to public notification, and there was no consultation 

with the involvement of Ngai Tahu in the process of mapping the 10 

smaller Papakāinga Zone areas which were included in the Council’s 

Revised Proposal. 

 

 Now the recent move to shift away from those reduced areas is 

acknowledged by Ngai Tahu and is consistent with what Ngai Tahu 15 

have been seeking in this respect. 

 

 At paragraph 75, sir.  In raising the concern is the adequacy of 

consultation.  Ngai Tahu is not seeking to criticise individual Council 

officers.  Ngai Tahu is also aware that Council’s proposed timeframe 20 

for notification of phase 2 and phase 3 was unexpectedly reduced, and 

are grateful that the Council included some provisions for Papakāinga 

in the Notified Plan.  This has provided scope to consider the issues and 

refine the provisions. 

 25 

 I then proceed at paragraph 77 to note the higher order planing 

documents.  I am not going to go through these in great detail.  I have a 

summary as an appendix which sets out in fuller detail provisions of the 

higher order planning documents, and I will leave those with you.   

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I do note that Papakāinga is expressly provided for in 

the New Zealand Coastal Policy Statement, and with the exception of 

Wairewa, all proposed Papakāinga Zones are adjacent to the coast and 35 

within the coastal environment.   

 

 The Land Use Recovery Plan expressly provides for Papakāinga , the 

Canterbury Regional Policy Statement expressly provides for 

Papakāinga , and I would note that the approach of the RPS is to 40 

provide for Papakāinga and acknowledge the importance of Papakāinga 

, not only within Māori reserves but on any ancestral land within the 

district. 

 

 It then further provides for the importance of development of Māori 45 

reserves as a separate chapter, so in fact there is a two-pronged 
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approached within the RPS, which in my submission goes beyond what 

has been provided for, expressly within the five areas identified for 

Papakāinga in the Proposal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But nevertheless, the policy being proposed by 5 

Ms Murchison is in line with seeking to give effect to the RPS? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, that is exactly correct, sir.  That policy seeks to 

address that wider perspective or impetus for providing the opportunity 

for further Papakāinga , or further areas to be bought within the zone 10 

through a notified plan change.  So that policy is entirely consistent 

with the RPS in my submission.   

 

  [11.05 am] 

 15 

 I also refer to the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan, which again 

provides very strong guidance and direction with regards to Papakāinga 

in the district.  That is a matter which must be taken into account. 

 

 Paragraph 90, I refer to the Minister’s expectations, as set out in the 20 

Order, reducing the reliance on resource consent processes, the number, 

extent, prescriptiveness and requirements for notification, written 

approval.  Of course the Panel is entirely familiar with these.   

 

 Papakāinga will assist in enabling the 23,700 additional dwellings 25 

expected by the ministers.  The contribution is seen to be relatively 

modest, as the evidence of Ms Bennett confirms “Papakāinga 

developments elsewhere tend to be modest in scale and this is likely to 

be the case in Christchurch, but it is an important contribution 

nonetheless, and it is an important contribution to the diversity of 30 

housing options available within the Christchurch district”. 

 

 I also refer to the Hearing Panel’s Strategic Objectives, which have 

been determined in the context of Decision One, and again I set out at 

paragraph 92 how the Papakāinga Proposal, provided it is truly 35 

enabling, will help achieve those objectives.   

 

 I then refer at paragraph 93 to part 2 of the Act, including the Treaty of 

Waitangi, and as noted at the outset of these submissions the Proposal 

is fundamentally about the use, development and protection of land, 40 

and as such the issues raised directly relate to the purpose of the Act. 

 

 More than that though, Papakāinga is intrinsically about enabling Ngai 

Tahu whanui to provide for their social, economic and cultural 

wellbeing.  In turn, the entire greater Christchurch community is the 45 

richer for this.   
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 As Ms Murchison describes in her rebuttal “Ngai Runanga regard 

themselves as part of the local communities which they have occupied 

for 50 generations, and see the development of Papakāinga Kainga 

Nohoanga zones as part of, and benefitting the wider community. 5 

 

 Section 6E, 7A and 8 emphasise the significance of the Papakāinga 

Proposal as being integral to the Replacement Plan achieving the 

purpose of the Act.  In this respect it is noted that no party has sought 

to dispute, challenge or question the evidence on behalf of Ngai Tahu 10 

as to the immense cultural significance to Ngai Tahu whanui of the 

reserves granted to them during the land purchases of the 1800s. 

 

 Section 6E provides as a matter of national importance that Ngai 

Tahu’s relationship with their ancestral lands, waters, wahitapu and 15 

other tanga shall be recognised and provided for. 

 

 Section 7A requires that particular regard be given to kaitiakitanga.  

Now, kaitiakitanga, you will be aware is defined as meaning “the 

exercise of guardianship by tangata whenua of an area in accordance 20 

with tikanga Māori in relation to the natural and physical resources, and 

includes the ethic of stewardship”.   

 

 Now, essential to this definition is that kaitiakitanga is exercised in 

accordance with tikanga Māori.  In my submission this cannot occur on 25 

Papakāinga if the land is unduly subject to consent requirements, 

notification or consultation procedures, or a need to fit in with others 

perception of what the amenity or wider neighbourhood should be.   

 

 Section 5, 6 and 7 of the Act require that tikanga Māori not be 30 

frustrated in this context in my submission. 

 

 Now this is likewise confirmed by section 8.  The principles of the 

Treaty of Waitangi are directly relevant to this proposal.  Those 

principles must be taken into account.  Providing for a truly enabling 35 

Papakāinga Kainga Nohoanga proposal will assist in recognising Nga 

Tahu rangatiratanga over the taonga resources, and will recognise and 

give effect to the Crown’s duty of active protection of Ngai Tahu 

taonga. 

 40 

 Now, in this respect I note the Crown’s strong support for the creation 

of a permissible planning regime relating to papakai.  I will leave the 

outcomes sought because obviously we are going to be bouncing 

through the constructed discussions.   

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  All right.  So I think we will take the morning recess 

now and then you can get ready with your first witness. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Okay, thank you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so we will take a 15 minute break and be back at 

11.25 am, thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.10 am] 

 10 

RESUMED [11.29 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Actually, just before you call you first witness, I had 

forgotten to ask my Panel members whether there were questions and I 

reminded myself when I was out there that Dr Mitchell had one or two 15 

for Mr Conway first.  So we might allow Dr Mitchell to ask those 

questions of Mr Conway and then there may be one or two questions 

for you, and then we will have your first witness. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Certainly. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  They are not specifically questions for you 

to answer directly.  I will just foreshadow the questions that are 25 

intended to put in writing to Mr Norton and Ms O’Brien.  

 

  [11.30 am] 

 

 I thought it might be helpful to foreshadow those now so that you can 30 

be thinking about those during the course of the day.  Beginning with 

Mr Norton first, at paragraph 3.3 of his evidence he says that all 

Papakāinga sites except Opukutahi would be able to mitigate the effects 

of stormwater et cetera, but in relation to that area given the typography 

and the difficulties of managing stormwater, there will be limited 35 

development opportunities.  I am just paraphrasing what he says in his 

paragraph 3.3.  He then goes on and elaborates in paragraph 4.4, and 

what I want to understand is A), what mitigation would be desirable in 

the circumstances? And B), what would be possible, given the 

constraints that he mentions? 40 

 

 And given those constraints, if the area were to be fully developed, 

what would the environmental effects of that, using his words, “less 

then optimal mitigation” actually be? 

 45 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you. 
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DR MITCHELL:   The second one is for Ms O’Brien, which is in two parts. 

Her evidence identifies a number of areas where the Council does not 

propose to provide water and/or wastewater infrastructure for several of 

these proposed Papakāinga Zones, and my question is in two parts:  5 

The first one is have the proposed Papakāinga Zones been factored into 

the Council’s infrastructure planning, and if not, why not?  The second 

part is that in the absence of Council infrastructure being provided, 

what are the options available for landowners to provide for water and 

wastewater matters if the zonings were put in place? 10 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I have got one further question, and I know that this is a 

work in progress but the version of the document that you submitted 15 

with your opening this morning, I just want to understand one thing 

about it.  At page 4, you have got an activity status for the land that is 

Māori communal land, and you then have a permitted activity rule that 

is associated with that.  Is it the intention that there is some sort of 

cascading rule that relates to activities that are not permitted activities?  20 

 

 Because the drafting, as I read it, is silent on that matter and the default 

rules that relate to permitted activities in other parts of the zone are 

tagged to being the other categories of land owning, not the Māori 

communal land. 25 

 

MR CONWAY:   So is the question whether activities that would not meet - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   If something contravenes rule 4.2.2.1, in other words, it is 

not a permitted activity because it is not a village site, a marae, so on 30 

and so forth, what happens if it is not permitted?  It seems to me to be 

silent because all the rules that follow are related to Māori administered 

land and the third category which is general land.   

 

 So I think that is a drafting error, but I just wanted to draw your 35 

attention to it, at least at my reading of it.  It does not make sense at the 

moment. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, we will take that away if that is okay, and have a 

look. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Absolutely, that is why we are looking at it now. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir. 

 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   Can I also just ask one final question?  There has been 

discussion in all the evidence about Papakāinga development, is it the 

Council’s intention that Papakāinga development has permanent 

habitation, provision for dwellings, as an immutable part of what 

constitutes Papakāinga ?   5 

 

 The reason I ask that, just so that it is transparent, is that the objectives 

and policies as proposed by the joint versions that we have seen all talk 

about social and economic development, which is fine so far as it goes. 

 10 

  [11.35 am] 

 

 My understanding and reading of it is that apart from the rules talking 

about housing and marae complex and so on and so forth, the 

objectives and policies are very broadly framed. There is no reference 15 

to housing at all, and it is a question I would like to understand from 

the cultural witnesses that we hear late, because they all talk about 

returning to the land, and I want to understand whether living on the 

land is what is intended, together with the ancillary activities, or 

whether you read the objectives and policies on their face and make no 20 

such mention of that. They talk about social and economic 

development in a range of uses, and it is only when you get to the rules 

that there is any flavouring of what might be intended.  

 

 So I just flag that now as a matter that, when you do caucus this 25 

afternoon, to just be aware of because I do not have a view as to the 

answer, but it is a question that is troubling me in terms of the drafting. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, we will take that away too. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Conway.  Now Mr Van Mierlo, I might 

ask you to stand.  There are a couple of other questions from Panel 

members.  Dr Mitchell, we are starting with you again, I think. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I do not think I do. I think it is the same questions that I 

asked of Mr Conway.  It is really just to get some clarity around what 

the fundamental purpose of the Papakāinga Zone is.  As I say, I cannot 

quite see the nexus between the objectives and policies and the rule 40 

framework.  It would be helpful (INDISTINCT 1.40) 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Okay, well that needs to be clear and I have taken some 

notes and we will confer. 

 45 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I will just check if there are any other questions.  All right, 

no, thank you very much.  If you could call your first witness. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you, we will now proceed and call the first 5 

witness please. I call Dr Te Maire Tau. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just as these witnesses come forward, just thinking about, 

obviously there is the usual approach of providing a summary of which 

the expert witnesses have been applying in the hearings today.  I 10 

wondered whether, in a sense I am inclined to allow Ms Maire Kipa to 

determine how she wishes to do that rather than, in the nature of the 

theory of her evidence may not be as amendable to a summary in the 

same way.  But I will allow some flexibility in your hands on that 

matter. 15 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you, sir.  My understanding is that the three 

witnesses you will hear from this morning have come prepared to 

present a short summary of the key points of their evidence.  We may 

not have that available in written form to hand out, but if that is the 20 

case we will provide that through the Secretariat. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and one of the things I ought to have done at the 

beginning, I was in a bit of a rush, there are a couple of disclosures.  

One is for me in regard to Transpower and Orion.  As I have previously 25 

disclosed in other chapters of this enquiry, because of the role that I 

used to have before I became a Judge acting for Transpower on 

matters, I recuse myself from dealing with Transpower, Orion, and 

Council issues, and other Panel members will deliberate on those. I 

understand those to be matters of relative agreement from the papers 30 

and so forth that have come forward. 

 

 The other matter which was the subject of a minute, and Ms Huria, we 

have made disclosure before with regard to Ms Huria’s personal family 

relationship with Dr Tau, and so that has been disclosed.  But Dr Tau 35 

is, of course, an expert witness and in that capacity, I see no issue. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you, sir. 

 

40 
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<RAWIRI TE MAIRE TAU, sworn [11.38 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR VAN MIERLO [11.39 am] 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Dr Tau, your full name is Rawiri Te Maire Tau? 

 

DR TAU:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   You have prepared a statement of evidence in relation to 

Stage 2 Papakāinga Proposal? 

 

DR TAU:   Yes, I have. 10 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you.  You have set out your qualifications, 

experience and background in that statement? 

 

DR TAU:   Yes, I have. 15 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Do you have any changes you wish to make to your 

statement? 

 

DR TAU:   No, other than I was appointed upoko for the Tuahiwi Village last 20 

Monday, which is a titular role for the village.  The role of the upuko 

since 1858 has been to represent the interests of the tribe, now a 

village, with the Crown and with, at that time what was called the 

provincial government. 

 25 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Do you confirm your statement of evidence is true and 

correct? 

 

DR TAU:   I confirm it is true and correct, yes I do. 

 30 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I understand you have prepared a brief summary of the 

key points within your evidence? 

 

DR TAU:   Yes, I have. 

 35 

  [11.40 am] 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I would ask you please to present that to the Panel and 

then answer any questions which they may have. 

 40 

DR TAU:   May I ask, as a former schoolteacher, what is the time I have for 

this presentation? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have indicated around a 10 minute time for summary 

but do not take that as licence to give us 10 minutes of unhelpful stuff, 45 

just fill it up with what is helpful to us. 
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MR TAU:   I will do that.  Shall I proceed? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you, please. 

 5 

DR TAU:   Greetings.  I think one of the most important things to understand 

about these submissions, in answer to Dr Phil Mitchell’s point, is this is 

about Kainga Nohoanga, which is areas of residence, which means 

housing.  I think what needs to be understood, these are not historical 

claims.  Those were finished in 1998 with the Crown.  What we are 10 

making the point though is that these deeds of purchase are still 

relevant today because they hold particularly wordings in them that we 

think are relevant. 

 

 Now the deeds of purchase, they followed the Treaty of Waitangi, and I 15 

think the principle for the Treaty of Waitangi we have to acknowledge 

is the Crown’s active duty to protect – it is not a passive role, it is an 

active role.  Now that the Treaty of Waitangi did in 1840 is it allowed 

the Crown to purchase land off our tribe, that was the point of the 

Treaty. 20 

 

 Those purchase deeds from Canterbury in 1848 and the consequent 

Peninsula purchase deeds, Port Cooper, Port Levy and Akaroa followed 

shortly after.  Now what is interesting and important about those deeds 

is the Crown makes it very clear those transactions were for ever and 25 

ever. The reason why they make those points is because they 

understood from land sales in the North Island that tribes and 

descendants within a decade were saying these were not for ever and 

ever, they were simply acts of gifts, gifting of land, because the nature 

of property rights were not defined during that period. 30 

 

 So the Crown took a very active role in wording these transactions that 

they were contracts of purchase, and if you read the Canterbury 

purchases and the ones on the Peninsula, they say for ever and ever.  So 

essentially the Crown is saying to our people, these purchase deeds 35 

cannot be gone back upon, they are perpetual, and likewise we 

guarantee to you reserves that are perpetual for our descendants.  Each 

deed purchase has its own wording but they will always talk about 

descendants, children, grandchildren, and they will also have the line 

for ever and ever.  The general principle is that those reserves were to 40 

be set aside for our people in perpetuity and that they could only be 

alienated with the governor’s consent.  Now that is the governor’s 

consent without going in-council, (ph 3.07) which is important. 

 

 Now the governor’s consent was never given, I suspect for the majority 45 

of those purchase deeds.  I want to make a point, most of our land was 



 Page 34 

  

Ch4: Papakāinga Zone (Stage 2) Commenced 23.11.15 

lost following the Second World War.  We actually kept most of our 

land right through. Following the Second World War our land was 

alienated by the Crown by a series of Acts from 1967, the 58 Town and 

Country Planning Act and a series of others.  What no-one understands 

is they were designed to see the transfer of remaining Māori land to 5 

rural farms.  Because the Councils in those days were essentially that.  

That was the Māori Affairs Amendment Act, the 1967 Ratings Act, the 

Town and Country Planning Act.  They work together. 

 

 Now the fascinating thing is that the reason our people live in 10 

Christchurch is not because of this thing called urbanisation, that is not 

an explanation for what happened, it is a description.  Our people lived 

in Christchurch because they were relocated off their reserves post-war.  

The local councils prohibited our people from living upon their 

reserves. 15 

 

 So my point is that we have an active duty as Treaty partners to protect 

the original intents of those acts.  Now you know what happened when 

our people moved into Christchurch, there was a huge amount of social 

problems that followed.  However I am going back now to the original 20 

intention of the Crown purchase deeds.    What we need to understand 

is that the land was customary, so the Crown had to purchase the land.  

I think we understand that.  To on-sell it to Pakeha settlers it did it 

through the Crown Grants Act, but in 1848 through to the 60s, Māori 

land sat outside of the law.  And that is really a fundamental point 25 

because it had not been reserved.  There was no legislation to reserve it. 

 

  [11.45 am] 

 

 Now in the North Island they introduced the Native Land Court laws.  30 

What you need to know as a Panel is that our land was reserved and 

granted to us, Ngai Tahu, under the Crown Grants Act 1862 No. 2.  So 

essentially the Crown gave us land under the Crown Grants Act 1862, 

not the Māori Affairs Act or the Native Land Court Act.  Now the 

Crown Grants Act makes specific promises to our people.  Now the 35 

context that is going on is from 1848 until the 60s.  To facilitate that, 

the Crown makes a number of promises to our people, Walter Buller, 

Walter Mantell. 

 

 What they do to facilitate the process is they establish legislation where 40 

our people adopt the Runanga system.  The Runanga system is unique 

to the South Island and parts of the North Island.  Generally Māori self-

govern themselves through the North Island with o Kingitanga (1.16) 

tribes, you know what they did.  The rest of us adopted the runanga 

system. 45 
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 There is a series of Acts, or the two Acts, the Native District 

Regulations Act, the Native Courts Act gave our people independence 

and governance on the reserves while it existed outside of Crown law.  

The point being the Crown or the provincial government did not have 

the right to regulate us while we existed outside the law.  So the Crown 5 

needed to grant land so we could regulate outside of the provincial 

council.  

 

 Now what is important is that Fitzgerald, whose statue is down the road 

at the Canterbury Museum, said the runanga system was really 10 

designed to give our people the roles of the provincial council, the 

powers and regulations.   

 

 In the 1860s the Crown Grants Act came in which transferred those 

roles to our people.  So our land was granted.  Two things about the 15 

Crown Grants Act, it commits the Crown to recognising the promises 

that Crown officials, including Governor Gray and Gore Brown, made 

to our people, which was really the role of self-regulation and the right 

to live on our reserves. 

 20 

 The two things really they promise is that the reserves would be there 

for ever and ever.  Second, we would have the right to subdivide our 

land.  Now there is a perpetual idea that Māori title is communal.  It is 

communal in the sense that New Zealand land is communal.  Within us 

we have the right to individual title and that is what our people said.  25 

The qualifying phrase though was that it was to be individual amongst 

ourselves and alienable amongst ourselves only.  It could not be sold 

outside of the tribe. 

 

 Now you will know the Crown’s actions after that was to alienate 30 

Māori land, but the original intentions were we were go have 

subdivision rights and the rights to sell, it was internal tribal economy 

amongst ourselves.  The runanga system also gave us the rights to 

regulate our land, and that includes cemeteries, it included stock, local 

bylaws and regulations. 35 

 

 Now what we are looking at today, and what has happened over the last 

100 years, is people have essentially forgotten things, except our 

village.  What is important to understand is that when the Crown 

negotiated with our village at Kaiapoi it was the model template for the 40 

rest of the peninsula.  So if you check the local gazette notices all the 

runanga heads were established right throughout the Canterbury region.   

And essentially when you read the old minute books they are deciding 

who lives where, how they live, how much land they get to garden, the 

rights to build and live as they would have during that period. 45 
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 That I think is essentially the key issues that we are making today.  I 

want to make a couple of points.  There is talk about Crown land and 

Māori land.  What you need to understand, I think, is that in 1967 the 

Māori Affairs Amendment Act and a series of other legislation that 

went through, transferred particular pieces of Māori land into Crown 5 

title without permission of the owners.   

 

 I mean this stuff would be amazing to happen today.  The Crown 

constructed a mechanism to purchase Māori land to on-sell it onto 

Pakeha farmers.  So in our village in 1971 all of my mother and quite a 10 

few other owners were simply told their land was Crown land.  The 

reason why it was transferred into Crown land is so that it could be 

alienated more quickly, because if you remember, our land was zoned 

under the Crown Grants Act, which prohibited that.   

 15 

  [11.50 am] 

 

 Now the best way to understand this is to simply go to the Canterbury 

Deeds Office or the National Archives in Christchurch now.  Our land 

is gazetted under the Canterbury Deeds Office, not the Māori Land 20 

Court. 

 

 The point I am making is that the Crown Grants Act No. 2 gives our 

appeal particular rights and privileges.   

 25 

 Now to bring this into a contemporary sense our rights, in our view, 

belongs to the descendants of the original owners on our reserves.  It is 

important to understand the reserves still maintain those rights in our 

views.  But the rights belong to the original descendants. 

 30 

 Finally, a point I think that we need to make, the Native Land Court 

refuse to allocate lands to us in the Christchurch region other than at 

the Styx River.  Now the Ngāi Tahu claim was settled, what our village 

would like to do in our rūnanga is to have the right to purchase land in 

Christchurch, but not under the Crown Title or any other Act, the right 35 

to purchase and to set aside reserves under the original intentions of the 

Crown Grants Act No. 2.   

 

 We understand the Crown Grants Act o. 2 has been removed, but we 

cannot see how the rights and obligations of the Crown can simply 40 

remove that without any form of consultation with us.   

 

 Finally, I will just make the point on Opukutahi because it was raised.  

My mother owns 15 acres there, and in regards to your question, Dr 

Mitchell, the point for us is turangawaewae.  Our family lives in 45 
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Kaiapoi, but we want the right to establish our place on the Peninsula at 

Opukutahi with rights to live there.   

 

 Now the consent process is annoying at the best of times, because 

while the councils and different bodies wish to put regulations on us, it 5 

is fine to put regulations, but they have no responsibilities.  If you tell 

us we cannot build in these places because of X and Y, we can equally 

respond with X and Y as well, because they have obligations.   

 

 Now we can act in good faith.  In our village we understand we cannot 10 

build without water and sewerage – we will pay for our water and 

sewerage – but there is a question here about obligations and the right 

to actively protect our interests.   

 

 And I will also make the point in Canterbury Ngāi Tahu is the biggest 15 

ratepayer, and in Christchurch.  And our village and quite a few of our 

villages around here do not have water and they do not have sewerage.   

 

 Now if the Crown does not want to have responsibility for that, or the 

councils, we will take responsibility, but neither option is really tenable 20 

so we are here to discuss that and come up with an option of 

development that is based on goodwill, but really which honours the 

original intentions of the Crown Grants Act, the original purchase 

deeds, and the Crown’s right to actively govern – which is a Treaty 

principle – and the righto actively protect our interests.   25 

 

 Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Dr Tau.   

 30 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Sir, there was just one matter I just wanted to clarify if I 

may, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Certainly. 

 35 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Dr Tau, I may have misheard you, but I just wanted to 

clarify.  I believe you may have said that your land is gazetted not 

under the Māori Land Act or within the jurisdiction of the Māori Land 

Court.  I am just wanting to clarify in respect of the five reserve areas 

on Banks Peninsula, there is Māori land within those areas which is 40 

subject to Te Ture Whenua Māori and the jurisdiction of the Māori 

Land Court. 

 

DR TAU:   Mm. 

 45 

MR VAN MIERLO:   That is correct? 
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DR TAU:   Yes, it is.  But the intentions originally, when you check the 

Certificates of Title, they are issued by the Canterbury Deeds Office, 

not the Māori Land Court.   

 5 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Right.   

 

DR TAU:   It is just an assumption that the Native Land Court took over the 

process and we have got no history in actually what the purpose of the 

Acts were.  The original intention of the Crown Grants Act.  So 10 

essentially what I am saying is our people were allocated title under the 

Crown Grants with particular rights and privileges guaranteed by the 

Crown.  What is important to note is that the governess could simply 

give consent without going in Council. 

 15 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you. 

 

DR TAU:   Thank you.   

 

  [11.55 am] 20 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes.  Now could you please remain and answer any 

questions from the Panel?  Sorry, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  And there is no cross-examination of you but 25 

there are some Panel questions.  So Dr Mitchel I think will - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes.  Good morning Dr Tau. 

 

DR TAU:   Morning.   30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just to clarify, the concept of a village with people living in 

it is fundamental to the development of the lands in question, the 

reserves land.  Is that, did I understand what you said correctly in that 

regards? 35 

 

DR TAU:   Yes.  Look, there are two fundamental concepts and value that are 

important.  It is Kaingā Nohoanga which is the right of our people to 

live in the villages.   

 40 

DR MITCHELL:   Mm’hm. 

 

DR TAU:   The other fundamental concept in these deeds of purchase is the 

mahinga kai.  My view is all other values are secondary to those 

fundamental rights.   45 
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DR MITCHELL:   Thank you.  No, that is very helpful, thank you.  And just in 

terms of clarification, it is the point that you were making last about the 

provision of services, and if the Council does not provide them you will 

provide for them yourselves, and I understand that in principle.  Would 

it be fair to say that if a council officer, from a technical point of view 5 

says that the management of stormwater on a particular site is 

problematic from a western scientific point of view, would you say that 

Māori custom and tikanga would allow for those matters to be 

addressed such that the cultural paradigm of kaitiakitanga et cetera 

would be provided for?  In other words, you could provide for that 10 

yourselves as well as the environmental protection aspect that the 

western science would direct us towards?  Or they are not very clearly - 

- -  

 

DR TAU:   No, look, I understand the point.  The point I am going to make is, 15 

every year my family goes mutton birding, and we live on an island in 

a self-sustainable manner and we look after the environment.  It is the 

only – it is probably the oldest commercial activity by an indigenous 

people where we actively extract resources but maintain the 

environment.   20 

 

 In terms of what the Council is saying, look, my view is we understand 

the environment and we understand the regulations, but unless there are 

joint responsibilities on both parties, if we have to pay for our sewerage 

and water, my fundamental question is what is the point of the 25 

Council? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Right, no, that is clear.  In terms of the specific issue around 

stormwater though and the fact that the land is too steep and therefore 

the development opportunities are limited in terms of the Council’s 30 

geotechnical evidence, you would say, I think, “well so what?  We will 

address that within customary protocols and we will look after it in our 

own way and it will be all right, you do not need to worry about it”? 

 

DR TAU:   Yes, which was my point about the mutton bird islands. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes, thank you.  No, that is helpful.  Thank you, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir.   45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No questions.  Well Dr Tau, thank you for your 

clarifications.  I found it very helpful that you have taken the trouble to 

provide us with that summary and clarification in regards to matters 

arising.  Your evidence is received on the basis that no party sought to 

cross-examine it and therefore we will consider it very carefully on that 5 

basis.  Thank you, you are free to go. 

 

DR TAU:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.58 am] 10 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  

 15 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Next witness is Mr Manaia Frederick Cunningham. 
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<MANAIA CUNNINGHAM, sworn [11.59 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR VAN MIERLO [11.59 am] 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Now, Mr Cunningham, your full name is Manaia 

Frederick William Cunningham? 

 5 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Correct. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   You have prepared a statement of evidence in relation to 

Stage 2, the Papakāinga Proposal? 

 10 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Correct. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   And you have set out your experience and background 

in that statement? 

 15 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Yes, I have, correct.   

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Do you have any changes you wish to make to your 

statement? 

 20 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   No. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   And do you confirm that your evidence is true and 

correct? 

 25 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Yes. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Now I understand you have prepared a short summary 

statement? 

 30 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   I have. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I ask you please provide that to the Panel and then 35 

answer any questions from them. 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Thank you.  

 

 We have occupied the land, so we have managed to hold onto land for 40 

over 800 years.  Others are showing intergenerational signs, what 

happens all over the world when people are removed from their 

economic base.  This summary looks at the Māori concept of 

papakāinga through my eyes and experiences on my land. 

 45 
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 The papakāinga concept cannot be summed up in one simple definition, 

it encompasses a value system that includes physical/emotional and 

spiritual and historical parts, and these parts can be seen as greater than 

the whole. 

 5 

 In my evidence I stated that Māori can be Māori anywhere, but we can 

feel that we are Ngāi Tūtehuarewa, Ngāti Irakehu and Ngāi Tahu, are 

able to stand on our own land and utilise it just as our tipuna did before 

us.  They grew crops, they worked, celebrated, built and lived on the 

land. 10 

 

 It provided a central resources that were valuable trading commodities, 

trade was a part of everyday life to sustain the pa, in fact trading 

between pa was paramount to the livelihood of the marae.  Trade is not 

a new thing for Māori nor to Koukourarata. 15 

 

 Today the economic value that papakāinga land can add to the local 

economy will be long term. Building dwellings and developing 

businesses will draw people back to the bay, to settle, to work and to 

visit, consequently growing prosperity for the local community.  The 20 

economic contribution to the Banks Peninsula itself will be modest. 

 

 Establishing the Papakāinga Zone will allow whānau a real opportunity 

to thrive, develop and grow in a healthy community.  This will only 

happen if the whole of the native reserve, 874, is zoned Papakāinga. 25 

This morning I was shown a very small portion of proposed papakāinga 

land and I felt it deeply disturbing, it was only a very, very small 

portion of the whole 874 reserve that was reserved and surveyed in 

1848 for our whānau that lived in the area. 

 30 

 I want to make it very clear that myself and other of my whānau want 

to live on the land.  I can only live on the papakāinga land if we have 

the appropriate planning provisions. 

 

 That is all, thank you. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Cunningham. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you, please answer any questions from the Panel, 

thank you. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will just follow, there is no – I will follow the same 

order as before, there is no cross-examination, Mr Cunningham. 

 

 Dr Mitchell? 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Mr Cunningham, you 

would have heard the questions that I asked Dr Tau about the 

importance of living on the land, and I take it from what you have just 

said you would endorse what he said - - -  

 5 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - that without living on the land this zone has no real 

purpose, you have lost your connection with it? 

 10 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   And you can look at all the statistics and you know 

that is the evidence, you know New Zealand health, wellbeing, 

economic and that is the result of not living on the land. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Mr Daysh. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you very much, Mr Cunningham.  I am looking at 

this strategic plan which you have attached with your evidence. 20 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Thank you. 

 

MR DAYSH:   This is the area of Kokokora-, Orata – sorry. 

 25 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   No, no, you are fine, Koukourarata, correct. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, Koukourarata, how many houses are associated with this 

land/papakāinga or people living on the land at the moment? 

 30 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Right now, on papakāinga land – no, on Māori reserve, 

there will be 10to 15 houses, and you have to understand that we have 

to – we use rain water, we have no water connections there.  We also 

have to supply our own sewerage over and, yes, sewerage devices that 

are there, and yet, as you would know we are one of the largest 35 

ratepayers in the community. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And potentially there could be a lot more houses there? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   That is the dream for the village and to really have but 40 

– I have to make it clear, for whānau to come back into an isolated area 

they have to come back for real terms, there has to be employment, 

education opportunities, business opportunities, that is the reason why I 

live in the city for work and education. 

 45 

  [12.05 pm] 
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 But I have to make it clear that I am one of the very, very few that are 

lucky enough to have a homestead left – there is a lot of whānau that 

just do not have papakāinga land, they do not have a dwelling there, but 

their heart and desire seek to be there. 5 

 

 And the role of the marae is there, is to look after those people when 

they return, and be a house for them even though they do not – they 

have potential to work on their own land but they just do not have the 

facilities to live on their land. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   And economic base I notice the duty there as far as I presume 

(INDISTINCT 0.42) today, fishing and harvesting and mussel 

farming, those sorts of things, they potential or are they there – that is 

where there is an economic base now? 15 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   The jetty’s currently being fixed. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 20 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   To be honest the jetty is really a place just to rest and 

fun, recreational fishing, and the jetty is (INDISTINCT 1.01) got fixed 

because we have only got one road going in to our isolated area so if 

there are emergencies and roads are broken, we need a jetty full of 

vessels to support. 25 

 

 But our economic base from our marae, a strong portion comes in from 

our mussel farms and so we get, you know the mussel barges can use 

that area that is there as well, so we have just right now in a position to 

get resource consents sent for a second resource consent for another 30 

mussel farm, around in Scawley (ph 1.32) Bay and how that supports 

our marae is amazing, that something as a marae we are really proud 

of. 

 

 But that is just one part that we want to expand our economic portfolio 35 

as a marae to support our people. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Sure.  So there is an economic base there that could be grown, 

people could live and work? 

 40 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Very, very much so. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes.  And do you see any, in terms of people living in an area 

like this, you know with the internet and the whole world available, you 

do not have to actually live in the city to have other economic business 45 
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do you, so you can live here and have all sorts of economic 

opportunities in Canterbury/Christchurch and further afield. 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Exactly, we are innovative, we are practical people and 

we love using technology to the best of its ability and to – but when 5 

you see children flourishing and growing and learning on the marae, 

being able to eat and grow and use the mahinga kai which is – and I 

agree with the upoko from Tūāhuriri, the mahinga kai and being able to 

check our waterways every day, look at mussels, look at pāua, look at 

our fisheries and working with western science to sustain that huge 10 

resource, it is only beneficial, you know, Koukourarata’s one jewel of a 

whole many jewels on Banks Peninsula and those natural resources and 

other economic activities that can come out of that little harbour alone 

is huge, it is huge but we need to have appropriate planning provisions 

to really expose a great deal with wealth for people and the community 15 

from that little village. 

 

MR DAYSH:   I am just looking at the sorts of provisions that the zone is 

looking to provide with things like kōhanga reo and – where do 

children get schooled and that, is there a provision currently or will 20 

they travel? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   That is a very sad story, but we are working towards a 

happy ending, so currently children have a bus that goes over to 

Diamond Harbour School and the bus also can take them to Cashmere 25 

High School, but unfortunately there is no Te reo Māori, Te reo Māori 

is one our key values of the marae and it is the language, and it is a 

language we really want to bring it back to our home. 

 

 But here is the happy side, we are building right now what we call a 30 

“whare wānanga”, a learning centre beside our marae, we already have 

a memorandum of intent with Lincoln University, so their biological 

husbandry unit, their organic farmers can come over and utilise land. 

Lincoln University unfortunately are running short of organic land and 

they want to use our marae land to practice and to research organic 35 

growing on our land, so we have currently just planted a section of 

kumara, this week we are planting potato that is going to be monitored 

and protected by western knowledge systems from Lincoln University, 

and of course our rūnanga and our people of the area we are working 

with Lincoln University and our planting schedules and seasons, and so 40 

right now it is an amazing (INDISTINCT 4.25) story. 

 

 And once again it is another economic base that we really want to share 

with our people and that is just another story, but having that whare 

wānanga, having a place of learning and education is vital. But for me 45 

personally if we can have a place where our family can live and grow 
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in Koukourarata now, and be educated in the schooling system, let us 

say for example a charter school system, it will be excellent, that is a 

real dream. 

 

 Once again it is forever and ever, it is for our children, our children 5 

after us, but these ideas can happen, can happen with the support of the 

planning structures that need to go in place.  But for me, the point of 

me being here today is we have a Maori reserve and it is not being 

utilised because it is not zoned as Papakāinga zoned.  When it is, 

exciting, exciting for the whole community. 10 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you very much, that is very helpful.   

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Kia ora.  I note you said that Koukourarata is one jewel in the 

Peninsula but I am reminded of Charles Croft’s comment that it is 

actually the centre of the universe. 20 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Thank you, yes, you will find our marae has much, we 

love each other and whānau are also very competitive with our 

resources that we have in our marae, manaaki tanga, how we look after 

people, especially singing is a very common competition, and it is just 25 

one of those values that we have and that is what we want our children 

to be like.  To be fun, competitive learners and be well educated to 

really be a big part of the global community. 

 

MS HURIA:   I really wanted to seek some clarification from you.  Did I 30 

understand you to say that you were disturbed or upset about a very 

small portion of the 1848 reserve had been identified? 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Yes, it was this morning I was shown an image.  In the 

grey was our Māori reserve, MI874, but in amongst the grey area that 35 

was gazetted in 1848 there was only an orange, a very small orange 

portion that only covers one section that I have a family house in, and 

the marae.  There is no way that is going to do any sort of beneficial for 

our community, or even New Zealand.  I was disturbed because we are 

not reflecting the Treaty partnership and what that native reserve was 40 

designed for, for people to live on. 

 

MS HURIA:   So is it your understanding or wish that that is revisited with the 

Council? 

 45 
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MR CUNNINGHAM:   It has to be, that is pointless.  I would like to make that 

very clear that it is pointless.  And another thing to be clear of is the 

majority of that land you are looking at right now is uninhabitable 

because it is cliffs, it is steep valleys.  The parts that, it is only a very 

small proportion is able to be lived on or growing crops on like we are 5 

doing now.   

 

 But the intent of that time was it is a Maori reserve for people to live 

on.  A nohoanga, a mahinga kai.  And how fabulous would it be if that 

whole area is reflected in the intention of the past, that it is a Maori 10 

reserve, a Papakāinga area, and also another thing to be aware of, a lot 

of it is utilised as farmland, and it is not designed for what it should 

have been for. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, Mr Cunningham.  I, like the previous 

witness, in the context where your evidence has not been cross-

examined it nevertheless is particularly valuable as uncontested 

evidence and I thank you for it.  I just want to ask Mr van Mierlo were 20 

there any questions arising, and forgive me I did not ask you that for 

Dr Tau, and if you wanted to recall him you could, on any questions 

arising from that - - - 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   No, no thank you, sir.   25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I would have indicated if that was the case. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. All right.  Well you are free to go, thank 

you very much. 

 

MR CUNNINGHAM:   Thank you all, thank you. 

 35 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.13 pm] 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Next witness we call is Maire Parewaitarangi (ph 3.58) 

Kipa.  Thank you. 

 40 
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<MAIRE KIPA, sworn [12.14 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR VAN MIERLO [12.14 pm] 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:  Good afternoon.  Your full name is Maire Parewaitarangi 

Kipa? 

 5 

MS KIPA:   It is. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   You have prepared a statement of evidence in relation to 

stage 2, Papakāinga Proposal? 

 10 

MS KIPA:   Yes. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you.  You have set out your experience and 

background in that statement? 

 15 

MS KIPA:   Yes. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Do you have any changes you wish to make to your 

statement? 

 20 

MS KIPA:   No. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   And you confirm your statement is true and correct? 

 

MS KIPA:   I do, yes. 25 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Thank you.  Now I understand you have prepared a 

summary of the key points that you wish to make in relation to your 

statement? 

 30 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

MS KIPA:   It is just a verbal one. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I would ask you please if you could provide that to the 35 

Panel then answer any questions which they may have. 

 

MS KIPA:   Thank you.  Kia ora tatou.  Thank you for the opportunity and 

really my summary is, my story is really of families who had moved 

about the South Island and back to their home places, and their 40 

experiences, my own personal experiences and the stories of my 

aunties and uncles, so it is very sort of historical but very important 

from our family’s point of view that our old people would travel far 

and wide to have their rights respected and honoured, and so it can be 

seen from the whakapapa and from our stories that my great 45 

grandfather probably was very young when he came from North Otago 
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to Kaiapoi to the Native Land Court sitting, to make his case for a 

claim for land at Wairewa.   

 

 It is not a place where he had lived but his mother’s people had so our 

associations started at Kaiapoi, went further south, then after leaving 5 

North Otago as a young man he came to Kaiapoi to recite his 

whakapapa and therefore claim land at Wairewa.  He could have done 

that at Kaiapoi because we also have land interests there but I think 

from probably there would be a bit of competition with relations, where 

would you go to settle, and he thought the prospects were better from 10 

his mother’s people at the river.  And they were, that is what we found 

from the stories and the history, they were able to settle there, lots of 

families did, the forestry there was so good, the food, gathering places, 

were so good that it was their intention to live there and to live well. 

 15 

 So what happened though as it does happen with the nature of the place 

at Wairewa, with natural hazards like flooding and the setting up of a 

new little town, things did not really go that well, and they stayed on 

there until the 1940s – from the 1860s to the 1940s.  So we had two 

generations of our family living at Wairewa under the Reserves Act.  20 

We have been in and out of those places anyway for kai gathering, but 

in terms of the way that Te Maire was talking about, the Crown 

purchases, we lived there under those conditions on a small title of land 

and we stayed there for at least two generations. 

 25 

 Things happened and they had to move off the land and what I learnt 

from writing this evidence for this hearing was that the reasons why 

schools were put there, it was all this, part of the purchases and health 

services, those things fell through in ways that were not good at all.   

 30 

 My father went to the native school at Wairewa but eventually it closed 

down because the numbers were so small.  Wairewa did have a native 

school at the reserve, that was for the whole of the peninsula, that is 

what I learnt from gathering up this evidence, and really our families 

were expected or it was hoped that they would send their children to 35 

boarding schools in Christchurch, but we must have made a really good 

case and we managed to get a native school at the river, and I think that 

is awesome, it is a testament really to the families of that time. 

 

 However that school was gone by the 40s and 50s and I am hearing 40 

through Te Maire’s evidence that other things are at play, you know, 

with lands being gazetted through the Crown, the Crown gazetting 

land, then the Maori Land Acts coming into play, town planning 

instruments and rules coming into play as well over that probably 80 to 

100 years.  And families are not aware of those things, we are just 45 

trying to live off the land and do our thing.   
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  [12.20 pm] 

 

 Our family wanted to stay, I do know that very much.  My father was 

born there, all his brothers and sisters were born there, but it really was 5 

subsistence living by the 1950s.  And so because we had land interests 

in Kaiapoi we were, as we felt, as described by my uncles, moved off 

the land, displaced.  There was no act or anything to do that but 

conditions of the living and the Government brought in a native 

housing commissioner to look at housing conditions and the 10 

Government was willing to loan families funds to repair their 

properties.  But Wairewa was not considered to be economically good.  

The economy was not good, so a lot of the families whose houses 

needed to be repaired and upgraded, that did not happen because the 

Government would not support loans to them. 15 

 

 So from what I have learnt from our families, we really had no choice 

but to try and subsist there without sewerage, without connection to the 

main water supply of Little River, even though there have been 

attempts between the Council and families to jointly fund those, I have 20 

written it in the evidence, that did not occur because we could not get 

the means financially through loans from the Government to upgrade 

the houses, so those things fell by the wayside. 

 

 The land is vacant now but all the houses are still there as dilapidated 25 

as they might be, but still on those properties, and it is just a reminder 

of, I think, that people actually live there, it is not empty, so that is in 

the little township. 

 

 The roads were put through there because families and the Council and 30 

locals agreed to do those things together whereas trying to work 

together in spite of the fact that now maybe we would fund those things 

ourselves.   But locals and whānau did try to work together. 

 

 Yes, there are natural hazards, there are the fires that I talked about in 35 

Canterbury at the time in the late 1860s or 70s, those things happened, 

they could happen again, but what I call the unnatural disasters are that 

the planning rules, the regulations, they had not matured enough, the 

country had not matured enough really, even though people are willing 

to work out things together, the laws had not matured enough to be able 40 

to support that. 

 

 So I have a strong opposition to the way that things are now.  I find it 

difficult now to have to – I feel kind of patronised by the current 

situation planning rules, it is patronising and I think that we have the 45 

ability and the capacity with Te Runanga to work out ways that our 
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runanga of which I am an executive member now, we are much more 

capable to consider these sorts of issues ourselves, for ourselves, in the 

reserves that were set aside for us originally as those original 

purchasers. 

 5 

 So really what I want to say is it is very sad and many families will be 

able to tell their side of the negative impacts really of losing your rights 

to develop, not having the means to develop and now again, we are still 

facing those issues now, and my aunts and uncles, they believe they 

had the best upbringing in the world, they had the best houses in Little 10 

River and the conditions were not to be complained about, but now we 

have had to look back at those conditions and today’s conditions and 

see what we could do to make things better for our families. 

 

 So I think that is all I want to say. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, I will just ask Dr Mitchell, any questions. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, I have just got a couple of questions thanks, 

Ms Kipa. 20 

 

 Firstly, thanks for sharing your story, I think we are pretty privileged to 

have heard that, from my point of view at least being from the North 

Island so thank you for that.    

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   I just wanted to – just the question that I asked Dr Taylor 

and Mr Cunningham, you would share their view that provision for 

housing and the ability to gather food in traditional ways is at the 

absolute heart of what this whole process is about.  Is that your 

understanding, I have got that right? 30 

 

MS KIPA:   Yes, we still return to the lake every year to do our customary 

fishing with the eeling, we were always up on the land into the orchards 

that are still there, getting our walnuts and pears and apples and things, 

and my family, after my grandfather died in the 50s, by the 60s they 35 

were making plans to rebuild on the land, but it was so complicated. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

 We did that again when I was in my late 20s, in the 80s, we went back 40 

with a plan to the Māori Land Court and to Council with plans to 

redevelop, put another house on, but it is just too complicated every 

single time. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So and just following on from that, if you could sort the 45 

RMA out, if I could put it colloquially such that you could do what you 
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wished without the Council having to take a role in that, and I know 

that is an ideal world scenario, but what are the biggest challenges that 

you face in being able to realise your dream back at Wairewa, what is 

the big challenge you face? 

 5 

MS KIPA:   It is partly financial in terms of the lack of infrastructure into the 

pieces of land where there were houses, the houses are still there but 

there is just no infrastructure so they really did subsist off it. 

 

 The other side of that is under the Māori Land Court, there are multiple 10 

owners now in that and so all interests of all of the owners have to be 

considered, as it would have been back then, and it just gets more 

complex every year as more families and descendants secede.  That is a 

Māori Land Court issue. 

 15 

 We have to go through two procedures to get agreement. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, that is helpful, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you Ms Kipa, I am not sure if you are familiar with 

the zoning plan, it is in, I think, Mr Matheson’s evidence-in-chief, 

which shows the area and the lay of land in the Wairewa area, and I am 

looking at and it is page 7 of Mr Matheson’s evidence for the record.  Is 25 

the secretary able to put that on the screen.  Can you see that? 

 

MS KIPA:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, so there is quite a lot of – I think the red hatching is the 30 

Māori Land whereas the original block is in the orange area I think. 

 

MS KIPA:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So what struck me here is that there is quite a lot of land there 35 

that is still in Māori ownership, - - - 

 

MS KIPA:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - there is actually quite a lot of houses in and around that 40 

area so obviously people are dealing with water supply and wastewater 

things so that is presumably manageable, and really just following on 

from the previous questions about if this was zoned in a way to 

recognise and provided for a range of activities to do with Papakāinga 

housing and economic development, I think your evidence is that 45 

would go some way to enabling a return to the land. 
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MS KIPA:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But there are some other issues as well, financial legislation 

that you would still have to work through, but is your evidence that the 5 

symbolism of a Papakāinga Zone with special provisions would be a 

step along the way to be able to return to this ancestral land? 

 

MS KIPA:   Yes, definitely. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, okay.  Thank you very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria. 

 

MS HURIA:   Ki ora Ms Kipa.  Thank you for sharing this story of your 15 

whānau and other whānau with us, it is very helpful.  I just have a 

question for clarification really that you mentioned, and I am not sure 

really if it goes to the heart of too much, but you mentioned about 

William White milling the trees from the district and I was just a bit 

unclear about whether he was milling from Māori land, or - - - 20 

 

MS KIPA:   He was. 

 

MS HURIA:   And so was he engaged by the owners to mill or did he - - - 

 25 

MS KIPA:   It is difficult to tell but I think they have come to an arrangement 

because the roads went through, which he was also part of, and he was 

so close to the families there.  I know that through our own family 

stories, not from what is written anywhere, so the White’s – one of our 

cousins is a White so I can only assume as has been with other, you 30 

know, landowners, there have been other relationships taking place, 

they have managed to work things out or there have been objections, 

the family have taken the proper course to have their concerns heard, 

and they did over the roads there. 

 35 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

 But I had assumed that the motorway that goes through Little River 

was taken under the Public Works Act, but it was not.  It was through 

the relation – because he had mapped out the roads, Mr White, and all 40 

of those things had been worked out prior to those things.   

 

 So you can make assumptions, but there are relationships that are 

occurring, quite close ones between families, and then they are also 

leaders in the community who are making decisions after some 45 
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discussion, but it did not stop people from objecting if they felt things 

were not quite right, which is good. 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, quite complex. 

 5 

MS KIPA:   Very.   

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you. 

 

MS KIPA:   Thank you. 10 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and Ms Kipa, I would also like to echo Ms Huria’s 

comments and thank you for bringing forward, the courage you to bring 15 

forward your family history or whānau history, and it seems to me that 

in all of these areas they talk about rules and regulations and everything 

else, but it does come back to the people at the end of the day, and what 

is good for the wellbeing of the people.  So I do not have any questions.  

Your evidence was very clear. 20 

 

 Mr van Mierlo, any questions arising? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   No, nothing arising, sir. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you very much, and you are free to go. 

 

MS KIPA:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.31 pm] 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now does that conclude the witnesses you want to call 

today? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   That concludes the manaawhenua evidence from Ngai 35 

Tahu, but further witnesses will be heard tomorrow is my 

understanding. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  All right, now Ms Cook, I am wondering if you 

wanted to present at this time, are you comfortable to do that? 40 

 

MS COOK:   Your Honour, as long as I still have the right to speak further 

tomorrow morning after our discussions this afternoon? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 45 
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MS COOK:   I mean it is really just whether we want to free up as much time 

as possible this afternoon or in the morning. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so your preference would be to exercise your right to 

speak tomorrow, you are fine to do that if you wish, we will just define 5 

somewhere in the timetable. 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, and that may just be on a couple of the more technical 

details.  Well, yes I am ready to speak to my evidence.   

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we have got the papers in front of us.  Because 

the order has moved around a bit we just need a bit of time to find 

things again.   

 

 So I have got a statement of evidence from you on behalf of yourself 15 

and David Brailsford, is that right? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, he is my husband. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And a rebuttal statement.  Now the status of that is his 20 

evidence, as we have got it before us, and is that your preference to 

give it as evidence, because then we will go through the formality of 

having you sworn. 

 

MS COOK:   Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 
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<JANICE AUDREY COOK, affirmed [12.33 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now you may take a seat.  Ms Cook, and your full name 

is Janice, and you prefer to be called Jan? 

 

MS COOK:   That is correct.   

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Janice Audrey Cook, you are a self-employed designer 

and business administrator? 

 

MS COOK:   That is correct. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And with your husband David Brailsford, who is a self-

employed project manager and builder.  You reside at French Farm? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is where you have your business, is that right? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have got a statement of evidence and a rebuttal 20 

statement.  Are there any matters in either of those that you wish to 

correct? 

 

MS COOK:   No. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you confirm that to be true and correct? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, I do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well now is your opportunity to speak to that. 30 

 

MS COOK:   So at this point it is really say the background as to how my 

family owns land at Opukutahi, and our history there.  I would also 

make the point that I am actually only speaking in relation to Akaroa 

Harbour, that is the area I know and interested in, I could not speak to 35 

those other areas.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So French Farm, just so that I understand it as being from 

a boy from the North Island of late, you turn right at the little cheese 

factory and then around the other side of the harbour. 40 

 

MS COOK:   Yes.  So, yes, I have ended up living 10 kilometres away from 

our family land at Opukutahi, however, I live just around the road.  I 

grew up in Christchurch, but that is still our special place at Opukutahi. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 
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MS COOK:   So my father’s father was Charles Thomas Cook, he was an 

Englishman who somehow ended up serving with the ANZACs at 

Gallipoli, and from there ended up living the rest of his life in New 

Zealand.  That is another story.  There were six children in my father’s 5 

family, not well off, and their holidays were camping ones. 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

 And sometime during the 1920s my grandfather forged a strong 10 

friendship with Jack Tekao of Opukutahi, and the family then spent all 

their holidays camping at Te Meneno (ph 00.21) Bay at Opukutahi.  

My father tells me that they would go there for the Christmas break, his 

father and mother would return to Christchurch to work and their 

grandmother would stay with them, caring for the kids.  Also they were 15 

in the care of the three or four families who still lived on the land then. 

 

 So I have a lot of stories from my father about essentially running wild 

at Opukutahi for the six weeks of the school holidays with his large 

family and extended family there at Opukutahi. 20 

 

 Around 1960 my parents looked to buy some land for a more 

permanent base in the area, and seven acres was offered to them by a 

family friend, who is just known to us as Mrs Timothy, I believe she 

was a Pirene.  She said “the Cook family is whānau at Opukutahi and I 25 

will sell some of my land to Charlie Cook’s son”, and the purchase was 

approved by Māori Land Court in 1962, and my parents built a small 

bach soon after, all legally established I might add. 

 

 Like my father, I have roamed all over this area since I was a small 30 

child, and our daughter is now the fifth generation in my family to do 

so, so this is our place we return to for family events and for 

remembrance.  And I believe we have been quite good guardians of this 

land.  When my parents bought it the surrounding land was almost 

completely covered with gorse, the leasing farmer painstakingly 35 

cleared that over a decade, maybe even two decades, but this brought 

new problems with land erosion.  It is a very steep erosion prone area, 

and there are massive slips occur when we have serious rain events. 

 

 So around 10 years ago we made the decision to fence off our site and 40 

re-establish variation.  Ours is a very interesting property, it is one of 

four wedge shaped pieces that run from the road, Wainui Main Road to 

the coast, and probably only five metres wide at the road boundary and 

about 100 metres down at the coast, but about a kilometre long down 

the hill, so very long narrow site, and ours is one of four, and originally 45 

there was only a fence around all four.  About 10 years ago we decided 
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to fence off our section, which involved about two kilometres of 

fencing at our cost, so that we could actually replant that area and try 

and hold some of that erosion. 

 

 Also that bay is recognised as a coastal natural character area in the 5 

Banks Peninsula Plan, and I think that has been carried through to the 

stage 3 proposal.  This is despite the presence of our building, there are 

only two places in Akaroa Harbour where there is actually a building in 

that highly valued coastal natural area.  So I think that is some 

testimony to our low impact presence there. 10 

 

 And my family is very supportive of the proposal to enable Māori to 

live on their land again, and with the associated services and facilities.  

And our concern with the proposal as notified, was that it was very 

permissive provisions applied across the zone regardless of ownership, 15 

and would allow very intensive subdivision development, including 

speculative development. 

 

 We have no intention or wish to do this ourselves, and we would also 

be concerned if our neighbours were to do so.  So I have been involved 20 

in the mediations and some discussions that there have been, and I 

understand the desire to see the enabling of residential and other 

activities limited to land which is Māori land. 

 

 So we wish to see those provisions, those enabling provisions to allow 25 

people to live again on the land, but also while setting reasonable 

standards in relation to both neighbouring and wider amenity, the 

landscape qualities of Akaroa Harbour are greatly valued by the local 

community and visitors to the area, and the community through its 

District Plan accepts a range of controls and activities to maintain this 30 

resource.  

 

 And I refer to my evidence, to the evidence that I had given to 

subdivision hearing about the development of the current rural 

provisions and the community process, a very long process and 35 

Environment Court appeals that we have gone through at that time.   

 

 So the various versions of the proposal I think have gone from very 

permissive to rather restrictive, not to mention are incredibly confusing 

and convoluted to the latest version from the Council which appears to 40 

me to be much simplified.   

  [12.40 pm] 

 

 It certainly satisfied most of my concerns about how this proposal 

relates to non-Māori land such as our land and a lot of our neighbours, I 45 

think about half of the Opukutahi area is not shown as Māori land.  But 
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I am here to listen to the concerns of all the other parties as well as to 

whether that is the best option, but I also remain concerned about the 

lack of a height standard in some parts of that zone, and also the 

absolute preclusion of public notification, regardless of the scale of an 

activity, and I would like to reserve the right to talk further about that 5 

tomorrow depending on our discussions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Does that conclude your summary? 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now I will just check if there are questions from the 

Panel.  Dr Mitchell, do you have any questions? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No I do not, thanks, Ms Cook, that is briefly. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, as a geographer I always like to know where people live 

so, just in relation to the zone and everything, could we pull up that 20 

page 10 from Mr Matheson’s evidence, the Opukutahi Papakāinga 

zone. 

 

 Yes, I think from your description I worked out probably where you 

are.  You said there were – maybe on the mouse we could - - -  25 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, just in the middle of. 

 

MR DAYSH:   In the middle there are those four triangular blocks, are you the 

second one up? 30 

 

MS COOK:   Ware the second one from the bottom, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, so I think - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Second one from the bottom I think. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So move the hand down, move towards the sea a bit I think. 

 

MS COOK:   Yes, that is the one, yes.  There is no road access, we have 40 

always walked there. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So this was a bach, was this where you lived? 

 

MS COOK:   No, this is a bach. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Yes, okay. 

 

MS COOK:   A very modest one. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But just teasing out your concerns about, firstly I think you 5 

confirmed to us that you think the zone provisions are moving in the 

right direction, less complex about how they apply to the modern Maori 

land in particular.  To residual concerns that you think there should be 

some height provisions, height standards, and the ability for public 

notification in certain circumstances, that is the sum of - - - 10 

 

MS COOK:   Well not the absolute preclusion of public notification, is my 

concern.  If there was a very large scale activity being proposed there 

may very well be genuine public interest. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   So you would like the planners this afternoon to think about 

some sort of threshold for public notification around intensity? 

 

MS COOK:   Well I think the situation at the moment is say you have got a 

standard for permitted activities and if that is not met, there is no 20 

further hierarchy above restricted discretionary whether, say for 

example of height, if it was half a metre over the standard or 50 metres, 

there is no difference in the hierarchy. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you. 25 

 

MS COOK:   And the same for – I think the latest proposal is talking about a 

building size of up to 500 square metres for a Kohanga reo and various 

other activities, that is quite large. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, but there are some limitations being put in there, around 

there, there are some more specific standard and sizes being put in the 

latest version that I have seen.  So you still would like to see some 

further development of those? 

 35 

MS COOK:   No, only the height. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Only the height?   

 

MS COOK:   Yes 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you.  So I understand you might be sitting in on 

the discuss this afternoon? 

 

MS COOK:   I hope so, yes. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   So we will hear back from you tomorrow perhaps if you have 

got some other comments on where they end up.  No that is all I have, 

thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 5 

 

MS HURIA:   No I do not, thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Ms Cook, just in terms of tomorrow, we will have to 

figure out a timeline around when we get things back but if you could 10 

be back for the morning if you have any further observations, you do 

not need to give those as evidence, you can simply speak through the 

microphone in the room.  I think that is probably the more appropriate 

course, given you will not have had time for anything else and we will 

give you a few minutes address us on anything that you would like us 15 

to take note of.   

 

 I do not have any further questions.  Thank you very much and thank 

you for attending. 

 20 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.44 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Ms Smith, are you wanting to speak today on this 

matter?  I think you had that wish before and you could just come 

forward to a microphone in behind Mr Conway there, and I have got a 25 

copy of your submission in front of me, the written one which is 2354 

as I understand. 

 

MS SMITH:   That is correct. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you can now speak.  I will just get this ready so I can 

follow it. All right, so the floor is yours just to speak to your 

submission. 

 

35 
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<PAULA SMITH [12.55 pm] 
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MS SMITH:   So I had hoped to have a slide show for you but because I am 

giving it today I will just say what I was going to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 5 

MS SMITH:   Good afternoon. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good afternoon. 

 

MS SMITH:   My name is Paula Smith.  I am the Chair and spokesperson for 10 

the Lyttelton-Mt Herbert Community Board, Te Hapori o Ohinehau 

Raua Ko Ahu Patiki. 

 

 We are the elected representatives of the 6,500 people who live in the 

Lyttelton Harbour Basin and Port Levy.  Lyttelton-Mt Herbert is one of 15 

two community boards on Banks Peninsula, the other, Akaroa Wairewa 

Community Board, represents all the rest of Banks Peninsula, covering 

a larger land area but representing a smaller population of about 3,000. 

 

 I am here today to speak on behalf of the Lyttelton-Mt Herbert 20 

Community Board in support of its submission on Papakāinga , soon to 

be known as Papakāinga Kainga Nohoanga Zone. We have two 

existing Papakāinga Zones in our area, one at Rapaki, in Lyttelton 

Harbour Whakaraupo (ph 1.43), and one at Koukourarata at Port Levy. 

 25 

 In our stage 2 submission the Board acknowledged Ngai Tahu mana 

whenua within the district and supported the chapter 4 proposal as 

notified.  Board members supported the proposals primarily because it 

would enable our runanga to exercise kaitiakitanga over their land in a 

way which is consistent with the original purpose of Māori reserve. 30 

 

 We are aware that planning rules within the existing Papakāinga zone 

were, and still are, even more restrictive than rules in our other small 

settlements.  They make it hard for people to live on their ancestral 

land.  This became especially critical after the earthquakes. 35 

 

 One of the things residents value about Banks Peninsula is the number 

and diversity of our small settlements.  Each has its own character and 

identify. This is one of the things which makes Banks Peninsula 

interesting and attractive to both residents and visitors.  The enabling 40 

provisions in the Papakāinga Kainga Nohoanga Zone, together with the 

provisions in the Iwi Management Plan mean that settlements at 

Koukourarata and Rapaki will grow and develop in ways which build 

on the existing character of each place and will make both settlements 

even more distinctive and interesting as time passes. 45 
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 Some concern was expressed by Board members about the potential for 

adverse landscape effects resulting from the proposal’s permissive 

provisions.  But we were satisfied by assurances that chapter 9 

provisions will cover this off.  But now I am hearing that this may not 

be the case so I would like it noted therefore that there would be some 5 

concerns about this possibility in the absence of the overlays not 

applying. 

 

 Since stage 2 was notified we are aware there have been quite a few 

changes in response to submissions.  Provided Te Hapu o Ngātiwheki 10 

(ph 3.39) and Te Runanga o Koukourata are generally happy with the 

agreed modifications then we support the revised proposal.   

 

 It is our view that unformed legal road along the foreshore adjacent to 

land in the overlays, or could end up being the zone, should also be 15 

included within the Papakāinga Kaihanga Nohoanga Zone at 

Koukorarata and Rapaki.  We also suggest that the island Horomaka, 

which is proposed as Open Space, Natural zone, should also be 

included within the Papakāinga Kaihanga Nohoanga zone based on our 

understanding that it was part of the original Māori reserve at Port 20 

Levy.  

 

 Thank you for listening. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Smith.  I will just check, any questions, 25 

Dr Mitchell 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you, sir. That is fine. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Dr Mitchell, Mr Daysh? 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, I think I have found the island in the planning map so thank 

you for that, no, no more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Ms Huria? 35 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Smith.  Obviously the invitation is open to 

you as well to take part in discussions today if you wish this afternoon. 40 

 

MS SMITH:   I may not be able to stay for the whole thing but yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, thank you.   

 45 

<PAULA SMITH WITHDREW [12.49 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right now, are there any other submitters who have 

made submissions that are here at the moment that wish to speak today 

as oppose to tomorrow?  I did not think there were any before and the 

others will just simply be scheduled for the morning. We will retain 

that scheduling for instance for the Mitchell’s and we will know 5 

tomorrow I guess as to whether or not they will be calling Ms 

Heppelthwaite. 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 10 

 So before I adjourn I just want to make some observations about 

process and I think I am in a position to make these observations in a 

sense that the evidence that we heard this morning on behalf of Te 

Rūnanga was unchallenged in cross-examination.  

 15 

 The nature of that evidence is foundation evidence.  It is evidence of 

the foundation upon which the evaluation of planners should be based 

when planners are considering planning solutions.  It is not the only 

foundation evidence but it is foundation evidence.  

 20 

 So planners should bear that in mind in considering their evaluative 

opinions that they should consider the foundation for those opinions, 

whether from their own foundation or from the foundation of other 

witnesses just called. 

 25 

 Those in caucusing and discussion should also bear in mind what those 

witnesses said in particular as to the purposes of Papakāinga and its 

fundamental characteristics and aspects, those include by summary, it 

relates to tūrangawaewae, it is a place of living and it is also a viable 

place economically for present and future generations. 30 

 

 So planners should also bear in the mind the legal framework within 

which we must make our decisions, one of those concerns the 

relationship of objectives, policies and rules under the Resource 

Management Act.  Rules must give effect to policies, rules and policies 35 

must give effect to objectives and we expect that to be explicit in the 

version that we come back with and see after conferencing that will be 

that clear interrelationship between the provisions, given their intended 

statutory purposes. 

 40 

 All right, well thank you very much everyone, Ms Appleyard, I just see 

you have popped in but it may be that you do not want to address now, 

I understand that Orion and Transpower have a joint – were you - - -  

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   That is fine. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, all right, I will leave you to it. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   I was just looking for Mr Copeland actually. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine, all right thank you. 

 10 

 All right, well thank you everyone, we encourage you to progress well 

and we will see you tomorrow tentatively at 10.00 am, one should 

assume 10.00 am subject to hearing from counsel for the Council about 

timing and as I said the Panel wishes to be well appraised of the 

provisions if any that come out of discussions in order to read those 15 

before we come in and hear from parties so please bear that in mind. 

 

 Thank you. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 12.53 PM UNTIL 20 

TUESDAY, 24 NOVEMBER 2015 


